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Chairman’s Statement  
 
The year 2020 has been a year like no other. The Covid-19 pandemic, Brexit uncertainty, and mounting 
geopolitical frictions have posed unprecedented challenges for the global economy. The heightened level of 
uncertainty has discouraged consumer confidence, investment outlook, and international trade viability. As 
with the previous 2008 financial crisis, the 2020 pandemic is expected to cast long-lasting shadows over  global 
growth prospects, especially in the EU and UK where extended lockdowns have posed increasing downside 
risks. According to the IMF, the average GDP growth rates have contracted by 6.1% and 9.9% for the EU and 
the UK respectively in 2020, record-breaking downturns for both economies.   
 
As the bank looks towards the coming years, the strategic focus will remain unchanged. The bank still 
endeavours to establish itself as a specialist mortgage lender, to remain the primary choice for the local 
Chinese community and domestic Chinese enterprises with operations in the UK, and focus on expanding our 
UK client base. The bank continues to actively pursue technological transformation with its digital solutions of 
end-user applications underway. The bank will keep enhancing risk management practices to support healthy 
and effective business development. Above  all, the bank is committed to meeting all legal and regulatory 
obligations that underpins market integrity.   
 
As 2021 unfolds, the resurgence of Covid-19 and prolonged containment measures in the EU and UK could 
still dampen future growth prospects. However, as the crisis abates and more countries rebound from the 
economic hibernation, 2021 could be a pivotal year for the world to navigate its way through unprecedented 
challenges towards recovery. Alongside the policies to stimulate recovery, many countries are moving 
forcefully to confront environmental issues. The upcoming COP26  to be hosted by the UK in Glasgow will 
bring together national leaders, frontline experts, and companies to tackle climate change and facilitate the 
green transition, which will induce a tectonic shift in global resources allocation and present historic 
opportunities to the bank. We are proud to be a participant in this important event. 
 
The year 2020 has been one of the most challenging in decades. However, despite all external adversities, 
the bank has shown competence in delivering robust results and has emerged more resilient. This would not 
have been achieved without the excellent stewardship of the Board, the Executive Management team and 
immense support from all the employees, who have been able to adapt at speed during this critical time. In the 
coming year the impact of the pandemic may persist, however, the bank will continue to monitor risks and 
continue  to remain agile in responding to external challenges and opportunities. I believe the resilience that 
has been built into the business will enable the bank to navigate the adversities with confidence and rigour. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Yu Sun 

Chairman of the Board of Directors 
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Chief Executive Officer’s Statement  
 

Over the past year, the world has experienced unforeseen challenges – a pandemic that has enveloped the 
entire globe and sparked the most severe global economic contractions since the 1929 Great Depression. 
Prolonged containment measures imposed in the EU and the UK have led to significant slack in consumer and 
labour demands. Ample monetary and fiscal stimuli have remained in place to ease uncertainty and bolster 
sentiment, which in turn entailed protracted weakness in inflation. Notwithstanding the pandemic, after four 
years of political stalemate surrounding Brexit, the UK enters a new but more significant period of challenge 
and changes. Whilst we wait the  pending decisions by the European Commission on financial equivalence, 
the post-Brexit journey for the City of London remains mired in uncertainty.  

Amid all the disruptions of the past 12 months, the bank has emerged flexible and robust. The bank’s total 
assets increased from £1.69 billion as of year-end 2019 to £1.94 billion as of year-end 2020. Total income has 
increased slightly from £115.2 million to £120.1 million in 2020. The bank’s total profit after tax has increased 
from £32.1 million in 2019 to £35.4 million.  

As the bank enters 2021 with a strong set of results, a few items remain certain for the coming years. The bank 
will continue to take significant steps to monitor risks, constantly review the evolving situations, ensure agile 
responses to external challenges, accelerate its transition towards Environment Social and Governance (ESG) 
development, and above all protect the health and safety of all employees during this most turbulent of times.   

2021 will be critical to economic recovery albeit it may encounter headwinds from the resurgence of the 
pandemic. In the UK, the impact of the pandemic appears to be lessening. A steady pickup in business 
activities is anticipated as vaccines continue to be rolled out and containment measures are lifted. Additionally, 
the momentum of the green or ESG transition will continue to build and persist into the coming years, providing 
dramatic implications to the global economy and presenting historic opportunities to the bank.  

Throughout the pandemic, the bank has prioritised the health, safety and wellbeing of our employees and  
customers while maintaining operational resilience. I echo the thanks of our Chairman for the firm support from 
the Board, my fellow Executive Management colleagues and every one of our employees. The bank continues 
to stand ready to embrace the challenges ahead, amid the prolonged pandemic impacts, and I am confident 
that we can withstand adversities and deliver quality results in the coming year.     

 

 

 

 

 

Wenjian Fang 

Chief Executive Officer 

Board Director 
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Directors’ report 
Principal Activities 

Bank of China (UK) Limited (“BOC UK” or the “bank”) is a full service bank offering retail, corporate and trade 
finance services in the United Kingdom (the “UK”). The bank is registered in England and Wales and is a private 
company limited by shares which is a wholly owned subsidiary of Bank of China Limited, Beijing (“BOC”). The 
bank is regulated by the Prudential Regulation Authority and Financial Conduct Authority and authorised by 
the Prudential Regulation Authority.  

BOC UK was incorporated in England and Wales as a private company with limited liability on 29 March 2007, 
the bank’s registration number at Companies House is 06193060.   

In accordance with Schedule 7 of the Companies Act 2006, reference is made to the existence of the Dublin 
Branch outside the UK, disclosed in the Strategic Report on page 10.  

Our retail activities focus on branch banking. The bank offers standard high street retail banking services 
including current accounts, savings accounts, debit and credit cards, mortgage products and business loans. 
Our corporate and trade finance business encompasses funding for Chinese corporates seeking to expand in 
the UK.  

Future Developments 

The directors intend to maintain the strategy and policies that have generated growth and preserved the value 
of the business in recent years by continuing to provide banking services to the Chinese community based in 
the UK. 

The bank is subject to a number of factors that could cause its future results to differ materially from current 
expectations. These factors are uncertainties concerning the current and future business/economic climate 
and risks which are naturally inherent in a banking environment. The current business climate is subject to 
uncertainties in 2021 and beyond, most notably: 

x The economic impact arising from Covid-19; 
x The rate and sustainability of growth in relevant economies, particularly the UK and the Eurozone; 
x The impact of the UK’s exit from the EU; 
x The potential impact of consumer price changes on economic growth and corporate profitability;  
x Membership of LCH with the objective of becoming the BOC global derivatives clearer; 
x The rate and extent of anticipated interest rate changes; 
x The risk of potential decline in property values.  

Dividends 

The directors recommend the payment of a dividend of £67,000,000 for 2020 (2019:Nil). 

Directors’ Interest 

The directors of the bank who were in office during the year and up to the date of signing the financial 
statements were: 

Mr. Yu Sun Chairman & Non-Executive Director 
Ms. Li Ren Non-Executive Director 
Mr. Wenjian Fang Chief Executive Officer & Executive Director 
Mrs. Wei Shi Chief Risk Officer & Executive Director 
Mr. Stewart Trussler Chief Financial Officer & Executive Director 
Mr. Jonathan Spence Senior Independent Non-Executive Director 
Mr. Charles Hardy Independent Non-Executive Director 
Dr. Gerard Lyons Independent Non-Executive Director 
  

None of the directors who held office at the end of the financial period had any disclosable interest in the 
shares of the bank at that date. 

During the year, the board determined that Mr. Jonathan Spence, Mr. Charles Hardy, and Dr. Gerard Lyons 
performed their roles as Independent Non-Executive Directors.  
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Directors’ report (continued) 
Board and Committee Meetings 

 Board Remuneration 
Committee 

Audit Committee 
 

Risk Committee 
 

Scheduled Meetings 4 4                         4                         5 
 
Attended Meetings: 

    
     
Mr. Wenjian Fang 4 4   - 5 
Mr. Yu Sun                           2 -                        -                          - 
Mr. Stewart Trussler                           4                           - 4*                         4* 
Mrs. Wei Shi 3 - 2*                         5 
Ms. Li Ren 4 -                          -                          - 
Mr. Jonathan Spence 4 -                         4                         5 
Mr. Charles Hardy 4 4                         4                         5* 
Dr. Gerard Lyons 4 4                          -                         5 

*By invitation. 

Directors attendance at these meetings are either as members or observers. 

Directors’ Remuneration 

Information on remuneration of the directors of BOC UK, in accordance with the Companies Act 2006, is 
disclosed in Note 14 to the financial statements. 

Directors’ Indemnities 

The BOC UK Board believes that it is in the best interests of the bank to attract and retain the services of the 
most able and experienced directors by offering competitive terms of engagement, including the granting of 
indemnities on terms consistent with the applicable statutory provisions. Qualifying third party indemnity 
provisions (as defined by Section 234 of the Companies Act 2006) were accordingly in force during the course 
of the financial period ended 31 December 2020 for the benefit of the directors and, at the date of this report, 
are in force for the benefit of the directors in relation to certain losses and liabilities which they may incur (or 
have incurred) in connection with their duties, powers or office. 

Going concern assessment 

The Board has given its consideration to the going concern status of the bank as at the reporting date. The 
board have considered financial forecasts running out to December 2022 which included the latest business 
assumptions. The Board have taken in to consideration the current economic environment, the bank’s business 
model, financial forecast and capital requirements and is satisfied that it has the resources to continue in 
business for a period of at least 12 months from the date of this report. The going concern assessment also 
considered specific Covid-19 stresses including the bank’s ability to continue to meet customer’s needs whilst 
taking measures to protect the health and safety of staff which has largely been achieved by the resilience 
over business operations provided by the ability for staff to be able to work from home. The Board further 
considered various additional stress scenarios including stresses on the bank’s mortgage and aircraft portfolios, 
and significant downward revisions to the financial forecast over the assessment period. These stresses were 
identified as the most likely challenging scenarios the bank would face should the Covid-19 pandemic have a 
higher economic impact than currently anticipated with the forecast. The Board considered the effect of these 
stresses on capital resources which remains strong.  

After due consideration the Board is of the opinion that the bank will continue as a going concern for a period 
of at least 12 months from the date of this report , generating cash flows from its continuing operations, but 
taking additional comfort from a two year financial forecast and a strong capital position to support this 
assumption. 

Furthermore, the Board is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on the bank’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the financial statements continue to be prepared on the going 
concern basis. 

Financial Instruments 

The bank’s principal financial risk management objectives and policies including its exposure to credit risk, 
liquidity risk and market risk are set out in Note 6 of the financial statements. 
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Directors’ report (continued) 
Employees 

x Diversity 

The bank is committed to employment policies, which follow best practice, based on equal opportunities for all 
employees, irrespective of sex, race, colour, disabilities, sexual orientation or marital status. The bank gives 
full and fair consideration to applications for employment from disabled persons, having regard to their 
particular aptitudes and abilities. Appropriate arrangements are made for the continued employment and 
training, career development and promotion of disabled persons employed by the bank. If members of staff 
become disabled the bank continues employment either in the same or an alternative position, with appropriate 
retraining being given if necessary. 

x Employee involvement 

The bank systematically provides employees with information on matters of concern to them, consulting them 
or their representatives regularly, so that their views can be taken into account when making decisions that 
are likely to affect their interests. Employee involvement in the bank is encouraged, as achieving a common 
awareness on the part of the employees of the financial and economic factors affecting the bank plays a 
major role in maintaining its performance. The bank encourages the involvement of its employees by means 
of an employee representative forum which is held on a quarterly basis and chaired by a member of the 
Executive Management Committee.  

Engagement with suppliers, customers and others 

The directors are aware of the importance of building good business relationships with customers, suppliers 
and others. The bank publishes it's payment practices report bi-annually and is committed to treating our 
customers fairly. The directors are also aware of the role the bank plays within the community and are 
committed to playing an important role within the local economy. The directors make business decisions 
whilst considering the effects on all these relationships. 

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting 

The management of resources and the need to embed sustainability is an important issue for the bank. In 
line with the UK Government’s Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting framework the tables below show 
the bank’s operational energy and carbon footprint. The 2019 UK Government Environmental Reporting 
Guidelines and the GHG Protocol Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard (revised edition) were 
followed to ensure the Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (“SECR”) requirements were met and 
exceeded where possible: 

 

Breakdown of energy consumption used to calculate emissions (kWh): Year ended 31 December 2020 

Electricity (grid) 2,932,340 

Natural gas 658,844 

Company cars (diesel) 5,257 

Employee-owned vehicles where company purchases the fuel 1,684 

Company cars (petrol) 1,384 

Total gross energy consumed 3,599,510 
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Directors’ report (continued) 
Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting 

Breakdown of emissions associated with the reported energy use 
(tCO₂e) 

Year ended 31 December 2020 

Scope 1  

Natural gas 121.1 

Company cars (diesel) 1.3 

Company cars (petrol) 0.3 

Total Scope 1  122.7 

Scope 2  

Electricity (grid) 683.6 

Total Scope 2 683.6 

Scope 3  

Employee-owned vehicles where company purchases the fuel 0.4 

Total Scope 3 0.4 

Total gross emissions 806.9 

 

Intensity Ratio 
 

The chosen primary intensity ratio is total gross emissions in metric tonnes CO2e (mandatory emissions) per 
1000 m2 of occupied floor area, which is the recommended ratio for the sector.  

Tonnes of CO2e per 1,000 m2 occupied floor area Year ended 31 December 2020 

Lothbury HQ 76.9 

Cannon St Office  32.6 

Princes St Office 44.1 

Gresham St Office 6.5 

Manchester Branch 31.0 

London Chinatown Branch 42.0 

Glasgow Branch 31.2 

Birmingham Branch 36.7 

Residential Flats 7.6 

All sites and transport 62.6 

 

Energy consumption is expected to be below typical through 2020 due to the reduced occupancy across all 
sites following Covid-19 restrictions from 23rd March 2020. From this date, the offices were operating at 
reduced staff occupancy with the majority carrying out their duties from home. In addition to this Lothbury 
HQ, which is the largest site and energy consumer has taken up a number of appropriate interventions to 
conserve energy during the Covid-19 period made possible by the  reduction occupation. Further energy 
savings have been achieved through lighting interventions, such as the installation of motion sensors to all 
stairwells and core corridors, which are also set to operate at reduced time schedules, as well as a rolling 
programme to replace failed fluorescent fittings for energy efficient LED alternatives.  

Lothbury HQ also boasts an existing green roof, which amongst a variety of other benefits also boosts the 
thermal performance of the building by acting as an additional insulation layer. This translates into carbon 
savings through a reduction in heating and cooling loads.  
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Directors’ report (continued) 
Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting 

Upcoming works include investments into the preservation of the green roof, as well as further large-scale 
LED lighting interventions. 

Disclosure of Information to the Auditors 

The directors who held office at the date of approval of this Directors’ Report confirm that: 

x So far as they are each aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the bank’s auditors are 
unaware. 

x Each director has taken all steps that he/she ought to take as a director to make himself/herself aware of 
any relevant audit information and to establish that the bank’s auditors are aware of that information. 

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of Section 418 (2) of 
the Companies Act 2006. 

The bank’s parent company, Bank of China Limited, has appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC) as 
its external auditor for auditing its financial statements in 2021. In accordance with Group policy on use of 
external auditors, the Board will appoint PwC as the bank’s external auditor for the year ending 31 December 
2021. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1 Lothbury On behalf of the Board, 

London  

EC2R 7DB  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Wenjian Fang 

Chief Executive Officer 

04 June 2021 Board Director   
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Strategic report of the Directors 
Business Review 

As at 31 December 2020, Bank of China (UK) Limited (“BOC UK” or the “bank”) had total assets of £1,941 
million (2019: £1,687 million). 

The bank's assets are primarily financed by retail and corporate deposits. The bank continues to focus its 
attention on developing its customer deposits base and this reflects its determination to develop corporate 
banking services to help in meeting the bank’s funding requirements. 

The bank generated a post-tax profit of £35.2 million during 2020 (2019: £32.1 million).  

Covid-19 

To assess the economic impact arising as a result of the coronavirus the bank has performed an internal risk 
assessment of its corporate customers, with the airline and travel industry identified as particularly at risk. The 
bank has also considered the potential future impact as part of the going concern assessment (see page 6). 
The bank will continue to monitor and stress test movements in credit ratings to mitigate risks as they evolve.  

Dublin Branch 

The Dublin Branch has been operating since July 2017 and is the first branch of Bank of China (UK) Limited 
in Ireland. The Dublin Branch’s main activities focus on corporate lending. It targets Chinese companies 
operating in Ireland, Irish groups with interests in China and multinationals with large offices in Ireland. 

In 2020, with regard to Brexit, the Dublin Branch is in process of transitioning to another European BOC entity. 

Retail Banking 

In order to continuously implement the group development strategy “to build BOC into a world-class bank in 
the new era”, whilst maintaining leading position against our local Chinese peers and continuously enhancing 
the profit contribution of the bank, the Personal Banking business line has retained its clearly defined 
development plan for the next five years. This follows on from the products, services, channels and the BOC 
Group support perspective, drawing out the strategic step by step plan updated in 2020 and implemented 
accordingly.   
With strong support from the BOC Group, the bank and Chinese domestic branches have also established 
good relations to promote our cross border business focusing on creating a robust financial services platform 
with high levels of cooperation. Since the launch of our Private Banking Service Centre (London) in 2017, both 
Platinum Card and Offset Mortgage products have been introduced to broaden local capabilities. Since the 
launch of WeChat Pay and Alipay merchant acquiring services in 2019 with a very positive result, the bank 
has further introduced Unionpay QR Code to provide UK merchants with a comprehensive payment service. 
UK branches are supervised using the three-in-one branch management mechanism originally established in 
2017, which includes holding bi-weekly managers meetings, operational working groups and on-site 
inspections which continue to embed improvements collectively. This has laid a solid foundation for future 
business development and customer service improvements throughout 2020 and beyond, which in practice 
continued to provide the necessary support to customers ,under the difficult pressures of Covid-19 and still 
operated normally with minimal business disruption.  
Corporate Banking 

The bank continues to develop its relationships with existing and target corporate clients by offering a 
comprehensive range of banking products and services including credit facilities, deposits, trade services, 
account and online banking, cash management, foreign exchange and RMB related products. Given the on-
going impact of Covid-19, though the bank will be cautious for credit business and put asset safety as priority, 
various products will be delivered normally to support the clients’ business resilience.    

A key objective for corporate banking business is to be the first choice for Chinese community and China 
related business in the local market, which includes companies involved in trade and investment between the 
UK and China as well as the internationalisation of China’s domestic “Going Out” enterprises in the UK. 
Moreover, the bank will put all effort to support green finance and contribute to the decarbonisation initiative.  
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Strategic report of the Directors (continued) 
Financial Markets 

Financial markets activities consist of foreign exchange and money market. There has been no proprietary 
trading activity during the year under review. There was focus on efficient liquidity and funding management. 

Principal Risks and Uncertainties 

The effect of one or a combination of factors, referred to on page 5 under future developments, could make 
the business environment a challenging one with regard to possible credit impairments and present 
difficulties in identifying new assets/business opportunities that meet the bank’s risk appetite. 

Principal Risks: The bank is exposed to a number of financial and non-financial risks namely credit risk, market 
risk, liquidity risk, operational risk, legal & compliance risk, IT risk, strategic risk and reputational risk. Of these 
risks, credit risk and liquidity risk are deemed to be the principal risks which the bank is exposed to.  

The Board, Board level Committees and other senior key staff carry out a continual assessment of the principal 
risks facing the bank and are of the opinion that systems and controls are sufficiently robust to identify threats 
to its business model, future performance, solvency or liquidity.  

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the bank if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to 
meet its contractual obligations and is considered a principal risk due to the composition of the bank’s balance 
sheet and lending being its primary business. 

The bank has established a set of credit risk management policies and procedures, and appropriate credit risk 
limits to manage and control credit risk that arises through its normal business activities. These policies, 
procedures and limits are regularly reviewed in light of changes in markets and business strategies.  

Further information on the management of credit risk is disclosed in Note 6 (a) of the notes to the financial 
statements. 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the bank is unable to meet its obligations as they fall due resulting in an inability to 
support normal business activity and/or failing to meet liquidity regulatory requirements. The bank is exposed 
to the risk that it will be unable to meet its obligations as they fall due arising from the differing maturity profiles 
of its assets and liabilities. To mitigate its exposure, the bank monitors the mismatch of maturity dates and 
holds a stock of liquid assets which could be sold at short notice if the need arose. In addition to meeting Pillar 
1 and Pillar 2 liquidity regulatory requirements, the bank assesses its compliance with the overall liquidity 
adequacy rule (OLAR) on an ongoing basis and under a number of severe and plausible stress scenarios. The 
Board, as part of the going concern assessment, took additional comfort from a two year financial forecast 
which also provided comfort on the bank’s assessment of its exposure to liquidity risk. A further mitigating 
factor is a committed short-term loan facility granted by the bank’s parent company. Further information on the 
management of liquidity risk is disclosed in Note 6 (b) of the notes to the financial statements. 

Business culture 

The bank acts on its responsibility to protect customers, communities and stakeholders.  

Anti-bribery and corruption 

The bank is committed to high standards of ethical behaviour and operates a zero tolerance approach to 
bribery and corruption. The bank considers such activity to be unethical and contrary to good corporate 
governance.  

Human rights 

The bank committed to respecting human rights principally as they apply to the employees, customers, 
suppliers and other stakeholders through business activities.  
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Strategic report of the Directors (continued) 
Section 172 statement 

The bank is committed to best practice in corporate governance. The Board of Directors (the “Board”)  gives 
regard to the Wates Corporate Governance Principles for Large Private Companies (“Wates Principles), 
published by the Financial Reporting Council in December 2018, which are applicable to companies reporting 
for financial years starting on or after 1 January 2019.  

Under United Kingdom (the “UK”) Company Law, directors must act in a way they consider, in good faith, 
would be most likely to promote the success of the bank for the benefit of its shareholder, and in doing so, to 
have regard (amongst other matters) to the following  (the “S172(1) matters”):  
 
x the likely consequences of any decision in the long term; 
x the interests of the Company’s employees; 
x the need to foster the Company’s business relationships with suppliers, customers and others; 
x the impact of the Company’s operations on the community and the environment; 
x the desirability of the Company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct; and 
x the need to act fairly as between members of the Company 

 
The Wates Principles enable the Board to use them as a framework to ensure that the bank complies with the 
requirements of the “S172(1) matters”, as noted below under Wates Principles 1-6: 

Principle 1 – Purpose and Leadership  

The bank was incorporated in 2007 and together with Bank of China Limited London Branch (“London 
Branch”), has been one of the preferred choices for both Chinese “Going-out” customers and local customers 
seeking to establish relationships with Chinese banks. 
 
The Board Terms of Reference (“ToR”) has stated its primary responsibility for “establishing a culture of ethical 
conduct and ensuring delivery of good outcomes for stakeholders as far as possible”. The Board is responsible 
to our shareholder for creating and delivering sustainable shareholder value through the management of the 
bank’s businesses. The Board aims to ensure that Executive Management strikes an appropriate balance 
between promoting long-term growth and delivering short-term objectives.  
 
The bank’s core values align with its parent’s, i.e. Responsibility, Integrity, Professionalism, Innovation, 
Prudence and Performance. The purpose of the bank will be re-communicated to the workforce through a 
Culture Programme which commenced in 2020, which will be  ongoing,  building on the bank’s existing 
commitment to good governance and social responsibility.  
 
The Board is also the decision-making body for all other matters of such importance as to be of significance 
to the bank as a whole because of their strategic, financial or reputational implications or consequences. 

A typical Board meeting receives reports from the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), the Chief Financial Officer 
(“CFO”) and will also be presented with an update on the execution of strategy in the main businesses and 
functions. It will also receive reports from each of the principal Board Committees and may also receive such 
reports as legal and regulatory updates from the Chief Compliance Officer (“CCO”) and relevant corporate 
governance updates from the Company Secretary. 

Principle 2 – Board Composition 

The Board comprises a Chairman, CEO, CFO, Chief Risk Officer (“CRO”), a Group Non-Executive Director, 
and three Independent Non-Executives (“iNEDs”), one of them being the Senior Independent Director (“SID”). 
The size and composition of the Board is appropriate to the bank’s size and nature of business. With four 
Chinese nationals, four British nationals, and two being women, the bank considers the diversity on the Board 
is good. The Board is also committed to making the bank an increasingly inclusive environment (also see note 
on Diversity  on page 7). 

Following the provisions in the Articles of Association, the appointment or removal of a member of the Board 
requires the approval of the sole shareholder. iNEDs are appointed for three-year renewable terms which may, 
in accordance with the Articles of Association, be terminated without notice or payment of compensation. The 
independence of any director who had served on the Board beyond nine years from the date of their  first 
appointment should be subject to rigorous review. 
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Strategic report of the Directors (continued) 
Section 172 statement (continued) 

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are separate. The Chairman’s main 
responsibility is to lead and manage the work of the Board to ensure that it operates effectively and fully 
discharges its legal and regulatory responsibilities. The Board has delegated the responsibility for the day-to-
day management of the bank to the Executive Management Committee (“EMC”) led by the CEO. The CEO is 
responsible for recommending strategy to the Board, leading the Executive Directors and for making and 
implementing operational decisions. 

The Board has collective responsibility for the success of the bank, however, Executive Directors have direct 
responsibility for business operations, whereas Non-Executive Directors are responsible for bringing 
independent judgement and scrutiny being asked of the Board, providing objective challenge to Executive 
Management. The Board can draw on the wide range of skills, knowledge and experience they have built up 
as directors of other companies and as business leaders. 

The independence of a Non-Executive Director is determined by assessing against the following essential 
criteria: 

x Provides objective challenge to management; 
x Is prepared to challenge others’ assumptions, beliefs or viewpoints as necessary for the good of the 

bank; 
x Questions intelligently, debates constructively, challenges rigorously and makes decisions 

dispassionately; 
x Is willing to stand up and defend their beliefs and viewpoints in order to support the ultimate good of 

the bank; 
x Understands the bank’s business and affairs to enable them to properly evaluate the information 

and responses provided by management. 

All directors must report any changes in their circumstances to the Board and the bank’s sole shareholder 
reserves the right to terminate the appointment of a director if there are any material changes in their 
circumstances that may conflict with their commitments as a director of the bank, or that may impact on their 
independence. 

The iNEDs attend and act as respective chairs to relevant committees (as noted on pages 17 to 19) so that 
they are able to effectively challenge and influence a diverse areas of the bank. The EMC ensures that the 
right tones are set and communicated consistently to all levels of the workforce - for example through regular 
Managers Meetings, departmental meetings and team meetings. These meetings continued to be held 
throughout the year despite the restrictions caused by the Pandemic by being held virtually 

Directors update their skills, knowledge and familiarity with the bank by engaging with Executive 
Management, Heads of Department, and by attending appropriate external seminars and training courses, 
albeit mostly by virtual means during 2020. A three-part training programme is in place for Non-Executive 
Directors. This comprises: 

x Induction training, when they join the Board; 
x Training and awareness of the businesses of the bank; 
x Training and awareness of external technical matters. 

In addition to the above, the bank also creates opportunities for the iNEDs to have access to the shareholder. 
The bank would have had one Board Meeting in China, if not for the disruptions caused by the Pandemic, 
which rendered travelling between the UK and China impossible. Although the annual physical visit to the 
shareholder did not take place, iNEDs were provided with relevant information about the shareholder when 
requested. Directors also receive a regular in-house research publication China Economic Watch which covers 
Chinese key economic indicators, macro-economic trends, key regulatory pronouncements and topical issues.  
All directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary and may, if they wish, take 
professional advice at the company’s expense should a matter arise that would warrant such advice. During 
2020, the Board was provided with regular updates on Corporate Governance and Regulatory Responsibilities.  

Principle 3 – Director Responsibilities 

Clear lines of Accountability and Responsibility supports effective decision-making. Responsibilities 
Map and Statement of Responsibilities introduced by the Senior Managers Regime ensure that each Board 
member has a clear understanding of their accountability and responsibilities. The Board has a programme of 
four Board meetings every year, plus potentially additional time for strategic planning such as a virtual half day 
Strategic Development Plan Seminar in November 2020. 
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Strategic report of the Directors (continued) 
Section 172 statement (continued) 

Board and Committee meetings are arranged in advance to ensure, as far as possible, that directors can 
manage their time commitments. All directors are provided with supporting papers and relevant information for 
each meeting and are expected to attend, unless there are exceptional circumstances that prevent them from 
doing so.  

In the event that a director is unable to attend a meeting, he/she will still receive the papers for the meeting 
and will normally discuss any matters they wish to raise with the Chairman of the meeting, to ensure their 
views are taken into account. In addition, all directors are able to discuss any issues with the Chairman of the 
Board, the SID and/or the CEO at any time. During the year ended 31 December 2020, it is considered that 
all directors contributed the time necessary to discharge their responsibilities to the Board. Potential conflicts 
of interest were declared and managed. During 2020, all Board meetings were conducted virtually due to 
Covid-19 difficulties.  

The Chairman of the Board works closely with the Company Secretary to ensure that accurate, timely and 
clear information flows to the Board. Supporting papers for scheduled meetings are distributed in advance of 
each meeting. 

Committees The Board delegates authority for day-to-day management of the bank to the EMC led by the 
CEO. The EMC membership includes the CRO, the CFO, the Treasurer, the Chief Retail and Corporate 
Banking Officer, the COO and the CCO. 

The iNEDs are wholly independent in that they have no material business or relationships with the bank that 
might influence their independence or judgement. In addition, certain governance responsibilities are 
delegated to other Board committees, specified below (as noted on pages 17 to 19). 

The Board pays close attention to the Integrity of Information as it relies on good management information 
(“MI”) to monitor and challenge the performance of the bank and make informed decisions. 2020 has seen 
continued improvement to the MI packs presented to respective Board committees and the Board. The bank 
has introduced a standard template for Board papers, with executive summary in front and encourages more 
in-depth and forward analysis to inform and enable effective decision making and challenge.  

In addition, as part of the Enterprise Risk Management and Control Effectiveness Review (“ERM Review”) 
driven actions, the bank is seeking to further enhance board governance by looking at escalation protocol, 
further alignment of Board, Board Committees and Management Committees ToR and introducing a 
standard action tracker template for all Board  Committees. These planned actions will continue into 2021.  
 
Furthermore, a new Implementation Steering Committee was established in 2020 to provide an oversight of 
implementation of recommendations arising from internal and external reviews including the above ERM 
Review, Culture Review and other project based reviews. 
 

Principle 4 – Opportunity and Risk  

The Board promotes a prudent approach to risk whilst seeking out opportunity. 

Opportunity Long term strategic opportunities are highlighted in the rolling Five-Year Strategic Plan, which is 
presented to the Board for approval every year. Short term opportunities are discussed at management 
committee levels at a more regular interval.  

Risk The bank’s systems and controls are designed to manage, rather than to entirely eliminate, the risk of 
failure to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable and not an absolute assurance against 
a risk materialising. 

The Board is responsible for the bank’s system of internal control. It is designed to facilitate effective and 
efficient operations and to ensure the quality of internal and external reporting and compliance with applicable 
laws and regulations. In devising internal controls, the Board considers the nature and extent of the risk, the 
likelihood of it crystallising and the cost of controls.  

The Board receives regular reports and updates from  Executive Management and the Board Audit Committee 
on the effectiveness of the bank’s internal control system. The system of internal control is also subject to 
regulatory oversight. 

 

 



Bank of China (UK) Limited 
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 

15 
 

Strategic report of the Directors (continued) 
Section 172 statement (continued) 

Principle 5 – Remuneration  

The Board established a Remuneration and Nomination Committee to discharge its responsibilities for 
ensuring the Board and EMC retain appropriate structure, size and balance of skills, and designing 
remuneration structures and policies, to support the strategic objectives and values of the bank. It benefits 
from the Chairmanship of an iNED to ensure that executive remuneration structures are aligned to the long-
term health of the bank, taking into account pay and conditions elsewhere in the industry, the local market and 
shareholder influence.  

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee’s work in detail is set out on page 18. The directors’ 
remuneration is disclosed on Note 14.  

Principle 6 – Stakeholder Relationships and Engagement  

The Board recognises the importance of stakeholder engagement, which means good relationships with all 
our stakeholder community including the sole shareholder, regulators, customers, employees, suppliers and 
the local communities: 

During this unprecedented time, the Board continues to seek to align the company’s strategic direction with its 
stated values and to the shareholder’s aspirations for long-term growth, transformation and in particular social 
responsibility.  

The direction of the BOC UK’s shareholder continued to cascade down into the strategy planning of the 
bank. For example, an Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Working Group was established in 
November 2020, chaired by the CEO of the bank, echoing the shareholder’s commitment to this area. During 
2020, a landmark Bank Guarantee was issued to support a renewable energy project.  
 
The Board recognises the importance of continuous open and honest dialogue with regulators. Throughout 
the pandemic, the bank has maintained frequent contact with the UK regulators, reporting and receiving 
feedback on matters such heightened credit risk, fraud risk and risks associated with Working-from-Home 
arrangements.  The PRA were provided with management information throughout 2020. In particular, the PRA 
arranged to meet the full Board together in November via virtual means to discuss the contents of the 2020 
Periodic Summary Meeting feedback letter. 

In supporting customers during 2020, the bank has made the following efforts: 

x Expanding Product Range – The bank oversaw the implementation of a project to provide Small Medium 
Enterprise (“SME”) customers with Trade Finance facilities and to build on those limited services already 
provided to UK traders. The bank’s Transaction Banking Department now works closely with Relationship 
Managers in regional branches and has provided training and guidance on products and procedures.  This 
has resulted in an improved service to customers and a widening of the products offered by the bank to 
include all aspects of SME trade finance. Covid-19 changed working practices in the bank but staff were 
able to maintain a high level of support for these SME customers throughout the year. 
 
The bank took an active role in promoting the Autumn 2020 Canton Fair to UK traders. This annual event 
(held virtually in 2020) brings both exporters and importers together and facilitates trade deals to showcase 
a great variety of products to the Chinese market. 
 

x The bank also implemented Strong Customer Authentication (“SCA”) in the Open Banking (“PSD2”) 
initiative, embedded new digital payment functions for Merchant Acquiring business (“Alipay and WeChat 
Pay”) introducing new payment solution providers and launched a Residential Offset Mortgage offering. 
 

x Improving Processing Capability – Likewise, in streamlining its procedures, the bank has built on its faster 
mortgage underwriting and pre-drawdown process, with mortgage business attaining a healthy growth 
over the period, attracted new deposit balances and added a good number of new merchants to acquiring 
service.  
 

x The bank has also expanded its network of Third Party providers, specifically in terms of available 
promotions via Retail Merchant relationships and luxury shopping experiences, alongside access to new 
Private Banking Service providers in terms of both educational consultancy and investment management 
needs.  Such investment needs are supported by introduction to a chosen number of FCA approved UK 
wealth management firms principally in connection with UK Investor immigration schemes.   
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Strategic report of the Directors (continued) 
Section 172 statement (continued) 

x Bringing Further Convenience to Clients - The bank has further embedded its recent strides in supporting 
new Mobile Banking (biometric security measures authentication, access to payment execution services 
and consolidated reporting via Mobile Banking App), improved Call Centre operating times with Parent 
support and solidified aspects of Mortgage Product suite.  
 
Importantly, the bank has also met the challenges and response required as a result of the Covid-19 
situation, and introduced new regulatory initiatives in 2020 to support Mortgage Payment Holiday (“MPH”), 
Credit Card Payment Freeze (“CCPF”), increased debit card withdrawal and contactless payment limits, 
waived fees to improve access to cash and published guidance for clients to avoid financial scams. 

A streamlined process was set up in handling MPH related business. Customers were provided with ample 
assistance throughout their MPH journey to help them make informed decisions. The bank has adopted a 
phased approach, with phase one centred around applications & implementation, and phase two focussing 
on the exit strategy. The approach took into account the multitude of FCA guidance changes from March 
2020 to March 2021. 

Recent years have witnessed the enhanced menu of flexible benefits and wellbeing initiatives on offer to 
employees. During lockdown, Vitality Days were held virtually and testing kits were posted to staff’s home 
address to continue to provide health checking services as part of Vitality membership offer. Virtual ‘Stay 
Connected’ and Wellness sessions were held regularly and fitness sessions organised by the bank were held 
daily.  

The bank continues to take an active part in the local communities, via the annual City Giving Day, for 
example. 2020 saw a new record of £14,000 being raised. Together with London Branch, the bank donated 
over 2 million pieces of PPE to local NHS Trusts, care homes, local government, Chinese overseas students 
and communities in the UK. Additionally, 20 ventilators were denoted to the NHS. The bank also continued to 
support the London Chinese New Year celebration. Other initiatives included the sponsoring of the Chinese 
bridge Chinese language competition for 9th consecutive year.  

Members of the Board also took every opportunity to maintain visibility despite the restriction caused by the 
Pandemic by joining Zoom events organised by the bank for better engagement, promoting an ethical 
corporate culture. 

A virtual annual Management Performance Self-Assessment Presentation delivered to staff representatives 
provides a briefing on Management performance and allows individuals to raise questions and concerns. If 
any employee wishes to highlight any potential breaches to the Code of Conduct, they can contact the 
independent whistleblowing hotline or contact the Whistleblowers’ Champion directly. Whistleblowing cases 
will be investigated. The quarterly bank newsletter continues to share best practice, achievements and success 
throughout the bank. 

The bank engages with its suppliers through its contractual arrangements and requirements to ensure prompt 
payment, adhering to the Small Business, Enterprise and Employment Act 2015 (Section 3) to report on the 
bank’s payment performance biannually.  

 

 

1 Lothbury On behalf of the Board, 

London  

EC2R 7DB  

 

 

  Wenjian Fang 

          Chief Executive Officer  

04 June 2021 Board Director   

 
 



Bank of China (UK) Limited 
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 

17 
 

Corporate Governance Statement 
Annual Performance Review Process 

As with previous years, and in alignment with the bank’s annual and interim performance management 
process, annual performance contracts were established for the Executive Directors for 2020 to assess their 
performance across four key performance areas aligned to the bank’s ‘balanced scorecard’ approach to 
performance management, being: 
 
x Financial;  
x Compliance, Risk and Business Processes; 
x Customer Focus; 
x Leadership/Team  

The performance contracts provide detailed Key Performance Indicators across the four Key Performance 
Areas and an overall summary of their achievements throughout the year in their roles as directors of the bank.  

Furthermore, the effectiveness of the Board and the three Board level committees is assessed annually. The 
Board undertook its 2020 effectiveness review via a focused questionnaire, facilitated by external advisors, 
following its 2019 review via interviews by the same independent external advisor. The result of these 
effectiveness reviews assessed that the Board was balanced, competent and well run, with potential for further 
improvement with future strategic ‘deep dives’, etc. 

Board Audit Committee Report  

The Audit Committee comprises two iNEDs; Mr. Charles Hardy, Chairman, and Mr. Jonathan Spence, who 
are the only voting members. The CRO, the CFO, the COO, the CCO and the Head of Internal Audit 
Department were standing attendees together with the heads of the second line risk departments. During 2020, 
four meetings were held, on a quarterly basis. The external auditors attended all of the four meetings.  

During the course of the year, the Committee considered the effectiveness of the bank's internal control 
systems, risk management, and compliance with financial services legislation and regulations, via the following 
key activities: 

x The Committee received and reviewed all internal audit reports issued during the year. Progress in 
resolving the issues arising from those reports was monitored; 

x Quarterly updates were received from the Credit Management, Risk Management and Legal and 
Compliance Departments and these were considered and discussed. 

In addition, the Committee: 

x Considered and approved the annual Internal Audit Department Plan; 
x Approved the scope of the external auditors' work and separately assessed their effectiveness. Non-audit 

services were approved by the Committee; 
x Carried out an assessment of the effectiveness of the Internal Audit Department which was felt to be 

operating effectively. The adequacy of the resources available to the Internal Audit Department was also 
considered.  During the year the approved headcount was increased from nine to twelve and further 
recruitment is in course in the current year.  The effectiveness of the Audit Committee itself was considered 
as part of the Board assessment process; 

x Reviewed in detail the annual financial statements and the quality and acceptability of the related 
accounting policies, practices and financial reporting disclosures; 

x Received a presentation from PwC LLP in connection with their potential replacement as external auditors 
for Ernst & Young LLP, as a consequence of Chinese rotation rules. 

After each meeting, a report to the Board was presented on the principal matters discussed to ensure all 
directors were informed of the Committee’s work. 

In addition, in 2021 the Committee considered and reviewed its Terms of Reference (which were approved by 
the Board) to bring them into line with current good practice and to be consistent with other board committees. 
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Corporate Governance Statement (continued) 
Board Remuneration and Nominations Committee Report 

The Board Remuneration Committee was expanded in November 2020 to become Board Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee in alignment with the Financial Conduct Authority’s (“FCA”) Handbook, SYSC 4.3A.6R, 
Management Body and Nomination Committee to comply with regulatory requirement. ToR has been amended 
to reflect enhanced responsibilities. 

The Remuneration and Nominations Committee comprises three directors: two iNeds: Dr. Gerard Lyons, 
Chairman and Mr. Charles Hardy as voting members; one Executive director: Mr. Wenjian Fang a non-voting 
member. The Head of Human Resources, (“HR”) and Deputy Head of Human Resources are non-voting 
Committee members.  

The Committee is responsible for ensuring that the Board and EMC retain an appropriate structure, size and 
balance of skills to support the strategic objectives and values of the organisation, recruiting, identifying and 
recommending candidates to fill Board and EMC vacancies. The Committee is also supporting and overseeing 
the implementation of an effective remuneration programme within the bank and ensuring that the bank 
operates an effective human resources function that meets all applicable statutory and regulatory 
requirements. The Committee is not involved in setting the remuneration of its members. The Committee aims 
to meet on a quarterly basis and met on six occasions in 2020 (four quarterly Committee meetings and two ad 
hoc meetings).   

The Committee has reviewed its ToR in order to focus on areas consistent with that needed for a HR function 
to support the bank’s Five-Year Strategic Plan. This has led to a number of developments including the 
continued improvement of the MI pack which now addresses a wider range of issues that are attracting greater 
scrutiny, including the gender pay gap, and to ensure that the bank is operating an equal pay policy for similar 
roles, and better assessment of the increased staff turnover in the bank, which, while below industry standards, 
has risen.  

Key activities undertaken in 2020 were reviewing, approving and monitoring of the HR annual work plan which 
supports the five year strategic plan including: 
 
x Supporting business development initiatives and relevant organisation development;  
x Undertaking annual reward programmes; 
x Undertaking market salary benchmarking and mapping process;  
x Undertaking the annual Employee Recognition Programme; 
x Undertaking the annual performance management process 
x Implementing relevant Learning and Development initiatives including participation in "Learning at Work" 

week, internal stay connected sessions, technical and soft skills programmes including e.g. delivery of 
Manager Education Plan to continue to develop internal capabilities; 

x Implementation of a Management Development Programme with an external business school aligned to 
the bank's succession planning framework; 

x Continued consideration of the impact of the Senior Manager & Certification Regime; 
x Implementation of a HR information system with integrated payroll system to ensure efficiencies can be 

considered in relation to HR processes whilst ensuring HR information and management information 
reporting requirements, can be met in the future; 

x Review of the annual flexible benefits scheme;  
x Review of the headcount budget for 2020 and achievement of headcount increase in alignment with 

business strategy and staff turnover data throughout 2020 with appropriate actions being taken should 
anything adverse be noted; 

x Continued review of the implementation of the FCA Remuneration Code and the impact on the bank and 
employees as well as the Remuneration Policy and application and impact of Capital Requirements IV 
Directive and the European Banking Authority's remuneration guidelines on UK remuneration strategies; 

x Continued focus on the corporate culture of the bank, including the development of a culture programme 
which continues to be implemented.    
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Corporate Governance Statement (continued) 
There are a number of priority areas that the Committee plans to continue to focus on in forthcoming meetings, 
including:  

x The Learning and Development plan for 2021 and a focus on various technical training programmes and 
further internal workshops as required at the bank's strategy event; 

x The implementation of a formalised Career Development Framework (learning pathways) which will outline 
departmental development framework to clarify employee's future career opportunities in addition to 
development of a formal Employee Value Proposition; 

x Development of the bank's health and wellbeing strategy to provide tools and support to all employees 
including a new employee assistance plan provider;  

x Implementation of the FCA's Register for all certified employees under the SMCR; 
x Continued focus on the resourcing strategy of the bank;  
x A reassessment of the year end performance management process to ensure it was aligned fully to the 

annual salary review and discretionary bonus allocations.  

Board Risk Committee Report  

The Board Risk Committee comprised four directors: two iNeds, Mr. Jonathan Spence, Chairman, Dr. Gerard 
Lyons, voting members and two Executive directors, Mr. Wenjian Fang,  voting member; Mrs. Wei Shi,  non-
voting member. Mr. Charles Hardy, the CFO, the CCO, the COO and the Head of second and third line 
departments were standing attendees.  

During 2020, four regular meetings were held on a quarterly basis, with one ad-hoc session arranged in the 
second quarter. 

The Board Risk Committee is responsible for the oversight and implementation of risk strategy and risk appetite 
within the bank. It exercises its oversight of risk management performance via the following key activities: 

x Consider and recommend to the Board for approval the Risk Appetite Framework of BOC UK; 
x Consider and recommend to the Board for approval qualitative statements of risk appetite for all key risks 

and quantitative risk appetite measures for those key risks, all in accordance with the Risk Appetite 
Framework; 

x Approve ICAAP, ILAAP stress testing framework prior to approving ICAAP, ILAAP and Recovery Plan; 
x Consider and recommend to the Board for approval the ICAAP, ILAAP and Recovery Plan; 
x Approve delegated discretionary powers to the CRO;  
x Approve all credit limits, provisions (and/or write-offs) that exceed the delegated discretionary powers of 

the CRO; 
x Oversee risk management performance across the bank, including  

o Credit Risk 
o Market Risk 
o Operational Risk 
o Liquidity Risk    
o Compliance Risk   
o Strategic and Reputational Risk 
o Operational Resilience 
o IT Risk 
o Climate Risk 

x Provide direct oversight to Risk Management & Internal Control Committee (“RMICC”) and review its 
updates on a quarterly basis, integrated from the following risk related committees under RMICC: 

o Credit Risk Management & Decision Committee (“CRDC”) 
o Operational Risk Committee (“ORC”) 
o Compliance Committee 
o Operational Resilience & Controls Committee (“ORCC”) 
o Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO1) - Market Risk and Liquidity Risk only 
o IT Management Committee - IT Risk only 

After each meeting, a report to the Board was presented on the principal matters discussed to ensure all 
directors were informed of the Committee’s work. 

 

                                                 
1 ALCO reports directly to the Committee regarding balance sheet management and funds transfer pricing.  
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Corporate Governance Statement (continued) 
Country by Country Reporting 

Further information regarding the bank’s approach to the requirements of increased financial and tax 
transparency of the Capital Requirements Directive (“CRD IV”), as enacted by the Financial Services and 
Markets Act 2000, will be published on the bank’s website shortly after the approval of these financial 
statements at www.bankofchina.com/uk. 

Pillar III Disclosures 

Further information regarding the bank’s approach to risk management and its capital adequacy are contained 
in the unaudited disclosures made under the requirements of Basel II Pillar 3 (the Pillar 3 disclosures). These 
disclosures will be published on the bank’s website shortly after the approval of these financial statements at 
www.bankofchina.com/uk. 

Modern Slavery Act  

Further information regarding the bank’s approach to modern slavery are contained in the Slavery and Human 
Trafficking Statement made under the requirements of the Modern Slavery Act 2015. This statement will be 
published on the bank’s website shortly after the approval of these financial statements at 
www.bankofchina.com/uk. 

Gender Pay 

Further information relating to the bank’s Gender Pay Gap was published on its website 
www.bankofchina.com/uk and the designated government website www.gov.uk/genderpaygap on 3 April 2020 
in compliance with the Equality Act 2010 (Gender Pay Gap Information) Regulations 2017. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Bank of China (UK) Limited 
Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Bank of China (UK) Limited (“the company”) for the year ended 
31 December 2020 which comprise the Income Statement, the Statement of Other Comprehensive Income, 
the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Equity and the Statement of Cash Flows and 
the related notes 1 to 35, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Accounting Standards 
in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 
In our opinion, the financial statements:   
x give a true and fair view of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2020 and of its profit for the year then 

ended; 
x have been properly prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standards in conformity with the 

requirements of the Companies Act 2006; and 
x have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

 
Basis for opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and 
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities 
for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the company in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, 
including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 
 
Conclusions relating to going concern 

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. Our evaluation of the directors’ 
assessment of the company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting included the 
following procedures: 
x We read minutes of meetings of the Board and its committees to assess whether there were any other 

matters discussed that may have an impact on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern, and 
held discussions with the management to understand the business performance and future outlook;  

x We performed enquiries of management and those charged with governance to identify risks or events that 
may impact the company’s ability to continue as a going concern; 

x We obtained and assessed the directors’ going concern assessment, including the cashflow forecast, 
ascertaining if the relevant risks had been appropriately considered;  

x We assessed and challenged the reasonableness of the key assumptions applied by the directors in their 
going concern assessment, including those applied in stress tests; 

x We understood the company’s liquidity and capital position in stressed scenarios prepared by the directors, 
and validated that the scenarios appropriately considered the impact of COVID-19; 

x We obtained the year to date actual 2021 financial results to identify if there were any indicators of material 
uncertainty around going concern which had not been considered by the directors in their forecasts;  

x We assessed, with the support of the auditors of the company’s parent company, the viability of the 
company’s parent company, should it be required to strategically or financially support the company;  

x We performed independent sensitivity analysis on the company’s assessment; and 
x We reviewed the company’s disclosures in order to assess the appropriateness of the going concern 

assessment   and its conformity with the reporting standards. 
 

Based on the work performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions 
that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern for a period of not less than twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for 
issue. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the 
relevant sections of this report. However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this 
statement is not a guarantee as to the company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Bank of China (UK) Limited 
(Continued） 
Overview of our audit approach 

Key audit 
matters 

x  Adequacy of the inputs and appropriateness of the assumptions used in 
calculating expected credit loss (ECL); 

x Appropriateness of the discount rate and valuation approach used in 
calculating the valuation of loans recorded at fair value; 

x Provisions / contingent liabilities in respect of potential non-compliance 
with foreign payments regulations; and 

x Provisions / contingent liabilities for claims in respect of the Bank of China 
(Suisse) SA sale agreement. 

Materiality x Overall materiality of £2.9m which represents 5% of profit before tax, 
adjusted for exceptional items. 

 

An overview of the scope of our audit  

 
Tailoring the scope 
Our assessment of audit risk, our evaluation of materiality and our allocation of performance materiality 
determine our audit scope for the company. This enables us to form an opinion on the financial statements. 
We take into account size, risk profile, the organisation of the company and effectiveness of controls, including 
controls and changes in the business environment when assessing the level of work to be performed. All audit 
work was performed directly by the audit engagement team. 

Key audit matters  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit 
of the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material 
misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters included those which had the 
greatest effect on the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of 
the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements 
as a whole, and in our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







9
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Bank of China (UK) Limited 
(Continued） 
Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial 
statements themselves or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other information, we are required to report 
that fact. 
 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 

x the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the 
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and  

x the strategic report and directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal 
requirements. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of 
the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or directors’ report. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 
x adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been 

received from branches not visited by us; or 

x the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

x certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

x we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

Responsibilities of directors 

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 21, the directors are 
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.   
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Bank of China (UK) Limited 
(Continued） 
Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including 
fraud  
 
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design 
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect irregularities, including fraud. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, 
or through collusion.  The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud 
is detailed below. 
However, the primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud rests with both those charged 
with governance of the company and management.  
 
x We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the 

company with both direct and indirect effect on the financial statements. We determined that the most 
significant are Companies Act 2006, Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, Financial Services Act 
2012, Capital Requirements Regulation, relevant Prudential Regulation Authority and Financial Conduct 
Authority regulations, and tax legislation (governed by HM Revenue and Customs).  

x We understood how the company is complying with those frameworks by making enquiries of 
management and those charged with governance. We reviewed correspondence between the company 
and UK regulatory bodies, reviewed minutes of the Board, the Audit Committee and the Board Risk 
Committee; and gained an understanding of the company’s approach to governance demonstrated by 
the Board’s approval of the Risk Management Framework and the internal controls process.   

x We assessed the susceptibility of the company’s financial statements to material misstatement, 
including how fraud might occur, by considering the risk of management override and incentives for 
management to manage earnings. We considered the controls that the company has established to 
address risks identified by the directors, or that otherwise seek to prevent, deter, or detect fraud, 
including in a remote-working environment. We also considered how management monitors these 
controls. Our audit procedures also included sampling of manual journal entries to verify the 
transactions were appropriate and supported by source documentation.   

x Based on this understanding we designed our audit procedures to identify non-compliance with such 
laws and regulations. Our procedures involved making inquiries of management and those charged with 
governance as to their awareness of any non-compliance with laws or regulations, inquiring about the 
policies that have been established to prevent non-compliance with laws and regulations, inquiring 
about the company’s methods of enforcing and monitoring compliance with such policies, reviewing the 
complaints log, and inspecting correspondence with the FCA. We performed specific procedures 
relating to provisions/contingent liabilities in respect of potential non-compliance with foreign payments 
regulations as outlined above in the Key Audit Matters.  

x The company is a regulated by and under the supervision of the PRA and FCA. As such, the Senior 
Statutory Auditor reviewed the experience and expertise of the engagement team to ensure that the 
team had the appropriate competence and capabilities. We involved specialists in the execution of the 
audit where appropriate. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the 
Financial Reporting Council’s website at https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.  This description forms 
part of our auditor’s report. 
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Income Statement  

 

  
                      

£000 
 

Note       2020 2019 
    

 Interest income from loans and advances  40,314 45,600 
 Other interest income  13 93 
 Interest expense  (6,276) (9,313) 

  Net interest income       8 34,051 36,380 

 

  
  

 Gross fee and commission income 
 

3,627 4,674 

 Gross fee and commission expense 
 

(1,549) (1,170) 

  Net fee and commission income 9 2,078 3,504 

 

  
  

 
Net fair value loss on financial 
instruments 10 (3,151) (1,165) 

 Foreign exchange gain 
 

1,489 4,767 
 Other operating income 11 85,636 71,751 
  Non-interest income   83,974 75,353 

Total income    120,103 115,237 

 

  
  

 Staff costs 12 (47,607) (47,279) 

 Other expenses 13 (18,816) (23,048) 

 Depreciation of plant and equipment 22 (2,342) (2,498) 

 Amortisation of intangible assets 23 (256) (100)  
Impairment charge  20 (3,172) (377) 

Profit  before income tax   47,910 41,935 

  Income tax expense 15 (12,745) (9,830) 

Profit  for the year   35,165 32,105 
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Statement of Other Comprehensive Income 

£000 
 

Note 2020      2019 

Profit for the year 
 

35,165 32,105 

Other comprehensive income 

Amounts that will be reclassified to the income statement 

 
 

 

Income and deferred tax credit relating to  

components of other comprehensive income 
15 - - 

 
Foreign currency translation 
 

   (59) (5) 

Other comprehensive income for the year, 
net of income and deferred tax credit or expense (59) (5) 

Total comprehensive income for the year  35,106 32,100 

     
2019 comparative adjusted for Foreign currency translation in the above table. 
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Statement of Financial Position 

£000 Note 31 December 2020   31 December 2019 
     

Assets 
 

 
  

Cash and cash equivalents 16 481,379  332,542 
Loans and advances to banks 18 110,446 

 
85,247 

Loans and advances to customers 19 1,138,583 
 

1,064,347 
Derivative financial instruments 17 48,163 

 
4,614 

Prepayments, accrued income and other assets 25 78,769 
 

58,405 
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 21(a) 77,482 

 
83,928 

Debt instruments at amortised cost 21(b) - 
 

50,431 
Deferred tax assets 24 1,227 

 
787 

Property, plant and equipment 22 4,527 
 

6,328 
Intangible assets 23 529 

 
759 

Investment in subsidiary companies   32(b) - 
 

- 
Total assets 

 
1,941,105  1,687,388 

  
 

  

Liabilities 
 

 
  

Deposits from banks 26 219,378 
 

128,590 
Deposits from customers 27 1,215,647 

 
1,132,193 

Derivative financial instruments 17 56,924 
 

8,771 
Other liabilities 29 36,086 

 
43,609 

Accruals and deferred income 30 5,705 
 

6,390 
Current corporation tax liabilities 

 
4,891 

 
675 

Impairment provision on off balance sheet products  310  102 
Subordinated liabilities 28 60,000 

 
60,000 

Total liabilities  1,598,941  1,380,330   
 

  

Equity 31  
  

Authorised and called up share capital 
 

250,000 
 

250,000 
Retained earnings 

 
92,164 

 
57,058 

Total shareholders’ equity 
 

342,164  307,058   
 

  

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 
 

1,941,105  1,687,388 

 

 
 

  

The financial statements on pages 31 to 105 were approved by the Board of Directors of Bank of China (UK) 
Limited and authorised for issue on 04 June 2021.They were signed on its behalf by: 

 

 

 

 

Wenjian Fang  
Chief Executive Officer 
Board Director  
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Statement of Changes in Equity  

2019 comparative adjusted for Foreign currency translation in the above table. 

£000 
Issued share 

capital 
Retained  
earnings 

Foreign 
Currency 

translation 
reserve Total 

   
 

 

As of 1 January 2020 250,000 57,063 (5) 307,058 
Profit  for the financial year - 35,165 - 35,165 

Foreign exchange and other - - (59) (59) 

Total comprehensive income  - 35,165 (59) 35,106 

Dividend paid - - - - 

As at  31 December 2020 250,000 92,228 (64) 342,164  
    

As of 1 January 2019 250,000 76,076 - 326,076 

Profit  for the financial year - 32,105 - 32,105 

Foreign exchange and other - - (5) (5) 

Total comprehensive income - 32,105 (5) 32,100 

Dividend paid - (51,118) - (51,118) 

As at  31 December 2019 250,000 57,063 (5) 307,058 
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Statement of Cash Flows  

£000   
 

 
 2020    

 2019 

Cash flows from operating activities     

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation  47,910  41,935 

Adjustments for non cash items     

 
Depreciation and amortisation of plant and equipment 
and intangible assets 

 2,601  2,599  

 Net impairment loss on loans and advances  3,172  377 

 Interest receivable from loans and advances  (40,326)  (46,357) 
 Other interest receivable  13  93 
 Interest payable  6,276  9,313 
 Exchange rate movements on plant and equipment   (79)  - 
 Exchange rate movements on equity  (59)  - 
 Fee income receivable  283  - 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities     

 Change in derivative financial instruments assets   (43,549)  (3,270) 
 Change in loans and advances to banks  (25,199)  (23,856) 
 Change in loans and advances to customers  (77,438)  (20,154) 
 Change in financial assets at amortised cost/fair value  6,877  (4,241) 
 Change in other assets  (20,489)  (57,250) 
 Change in derivative financial instruments liabilities   48,153  6,794 
 Change in deposits from banks  90,788  25,671 
 Change in deposits from customers  83,454  24,754 
 Change in other liabilities and provisions*  (6,246)  23,485 
Adjustment for cash items     

 Interest and coupon received  40,314  45,600 
 Dividend paid  -  (51,118) 
 Interest paid  (7,121)  (9.313) 
 Income tax paid  (8,430)  (13,293) 
Net cash generated from operating activities  100,905  (48,231) 
      

Cash flows from investing activities     

 Proceeds from maturity of investment securities  50,000  50,000 
 Acquisition of property and equipment  (519)  (870) 

 Acquisition of intangible assets  (52)  (398) 
 Proceeds from sale of fixed assets  82  - 
Net cash from investing activities  49,511   48,732 
 
 

    

Cash flows from financing activities     

            Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities*  (1,578)  (1,234) 

Net cash from financing activities  (1,578)   (1,234) 

 

 
    

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  148,837  (733) 

 Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  332,542  333,275 

Cash and cash equivalents at year end 16 481,379   332,542 
 

     
The statement of cash flows has been prepared under the indirect method. 

* Certain cash flows have been reclassified from cash flows from operating activities to cash flows from 
financing activities to align the cash flows with the nature of the underlying activities. 2019 comparatives have 
been restated. 
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Additional Cash Flow Information  
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities 

 
£000 2020 2019 
Balance of 1 January                   7,167                   7,933  
Cash flow items:   
Repayments (1,578)  (1,234)  
Non-cash flow items: (538)                      468  
Balance of 31 December                  5,051                   7,167  
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
Note  Note 

 
1. Reporting entity  

 
2. Basis of preparation  

 
3. Significant accounting policies  

 
4. Critical estimates and judgements 

 
5. Changes in accounting policies and 
        disclosures 
 
6. Financial risk management 
 
7. Financial assets and financial liabilities  

 
8. Net interest income  

 
9. Net fee and commission income  

 
10. Net fair value gain/ (loss) on financial       

instruments   
 

11. Other operating income  
 

12. Staff costs  
 

13. Other expenses 
 

14. Directors’ remuneration 
 

15. Income tax expense  
 

16. Cash and cash equivalents  
 

17. Derivative financial instruments  
 
18. Loans and advances to banks  
 
19. Loans and advances to customers  
 
20. Allowances for impairment  
 
21. Financial investments 
 
22. Property, plant and equipment  
 
23. Intangible assets  
 
24. Deferred tax assets   
 
25. Prepayments, accrued income and other 

assets 
 
26. Deposits from banks  
 
27. Deposits from customers  
 
28. Subordinated liabilities 

 
29. Other liabilities 
 
30. Accruals and deferred income  
 
31. Equity  
 
32. Related parties  
 
33. Provisions, contingent liabilities and commitment 
  
34.  Subsequent events  
 
35.  Company as Lessor 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
1. Reporting entity 

Bank of China (UK) Limited (the “bank”) is a company domiciled and incorporated in the United Kingdom (the 
“UK”) with its registered office at 1 Lothbury, London EC2R 7DB. The bank is primarily involved in retail, 
corporate and trade finance services. These financial statements present information for the bank and not its 
subsidiaries. 

Accounting policies for the year ended 31 December 2020 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. 
These policies have been consistently applied to the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

2. Basis of preparation 

(a) Statement of compliance 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standards in 
conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, and IFRIC. 

The bank has availed itself of the exemption election from Section 401 of the Companies Act 2006 that permits 
an entity to prepare separate financial statements. The bank is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Bank of China 
Limited (“BOC”), which produces consolidated financial statements available for public use that comply with 
IFRSs. BOC is domiciled in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), with its head office located at 1 
Fuxingmen Nei Dajie, Beijing 100818 PRC. The consolidated financial statements of the BOC group are 
publicly available from this address. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) on 04 June 2021. 

(b) Basis of measurement 

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis under the historical cost convention 
modified to include the fair valuation of certain financial instruments. 

The following items are measured at fair value: 

x Fixed rate loans designated at fair value; 
x Convertible preference shares; 
x Derivative financial instruments. 

 

(c) Functional and presentational currency 

These financial statements are presented in Sterling (£), which is the bank’s functional currency. Except as 
indicated, financial information presented in Sterling has been rounded to the nearest thousand. 

(d) Use of estimates and judgements 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income and expense. Actual results may differ from these estimates.  

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 

Information about significant areas of estimation, uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting 
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements are 
described in Note 4. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
3. Significant accounting policies 

(a) Revenue recognition 

The bank calculates interest income by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of financial 
assets other than credit-impaired assets. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised 
cost of a financial asset or liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts over the contractual life of 
the instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial 
liability. The effective interest rate is calculated on initial recognition of the financial asset or liability, estimating the 
future cash flows after considering all the contractual terms of the instrument but not future credit losses. The 
calculation includes all amounts paid or received by the bank including fees, expected early redemptions and 
related penalties and premiums and discounts that are an integral part of the overall return as well as direct 
incremental transaction costs related to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial instrument. When a financial 
asset becomes credit-impaired (as set out in Note 6 (a)) and is, therefore, regarded as stage 3, the bank calculates 
interest income by applying the effective interest rate to the net amortised cost of the financial asset. If financial 
assets cure (as outlined in Note 6 (a)) and are no longer credit-impaired, the bank reverts to calculating interest 
income on a gross basis. 

Fees and commissions which are not an integral part of the effective interest rate are recognised when the service 
has been provided. Loan commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down are deferred (together with 
related direct costs) and recognised as an adjustment to the effective interest rate on the loan.  

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.  

Other operating income is recognised when the bank is entitled to receive that income. 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers outlines a five step model an entity must apply to measure and 
recognise revenue.  

The bank earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of financial services it provides to its customers. 
Fee and commission income is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the bank expects 
to be entitled in exchange for providing the services.  

The performance obligations, as well as the timing of their satisfaction, are identified, and determined, at the 
inception of the contract. The bank’s revenue contracts do not include multiple performance obligations.  

Fee and commission income that falls outside the scope of IFRS 15, consists of contractual performance 
obligations with retail and corporate lending fee income recognized using the effective interest rate method (see 
above). Fee and commission income in scope of IFRS 15 is assessed using a product driven approach and 
depicted in the table contained in Note 9. Income is recorded at the point in time when the service is performed or 
amortised over the service period.  

Revenue streams categorised under other operating income, interest income, foreign exchange gain and interest 
income from financial investments have been assessed as outside the scope of IFRS 15 as they are governed by 
alternative accounting standards, predominantly IFRS 

9 Financial Instruments and IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates.  

(b) Derivative financial instruments  

Derivative instruments are held for risk management purposes and do not qualify for hedge accounting according 
to IFRS 9. All derivatives are recognised at their fair value. Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices in 
active markets, including recent market transactions, and using valuation techniques, including discounted cash 
flow, as appropriate. Derivatives are carried in the statement of financial position as assets when their fair value is 
positive and as liabilities when their fair value is negative. All changes in the fair value of the derivative are 
recognised immediately in the income statement as a component of net fair value gain (loss) on financial 
instruments.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
(c) Foreign currencies 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at 
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 
transactions are recognised in the income statement. Non-monetary assets that are measured at fair value are 
translated using the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Translation differences arising 
on monetary items at year-end are recognised in the income statement.  

(d) Loans and advances to banks and customers 

Loans and advances to banks and customers are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently accounted 
for at amortised cost using the effective interest method less accumulated impairment losses. Loans and 
advances are initially recognised when cash is advanced to the customers at fair value inclusive of transaction 
costs. Loans and advances are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from them have expired or 
where the bank has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. 

The bank only measures amounts due from banks, loans and advances to customers and other financial 
investments at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met: 

The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows; 

The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding. 

The details of these conditions are outlined below. 

Business model assessment 

The bank determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of financial assets 
to achieve its business objective. 

The bank's business model is not assessed on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but at a higher level of 
aggregated portfolios and is based on observable factors such as: 

How the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within that business model are 
evaluated and reported to the entity's key management personnel; 

The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business 
model) and, in particular, the way those risks are managed; 

How managers of the business are compensated (for example, whether the compensation is based on the fair 
value of the assets managed or on the contractual cash flows collected); 

The expected frequency, value and timing of sales are also important aspects of the bank’s assessment. 

The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without taking 'worst case' or 
'stress case’ scenarios into account. If cash flows after initial recognition are realised in a way that is different 
from the bank's original expectations, the bank does not change the classification of the remaining financial 
assets held in that business model, but incorporates such information when assessing newly originated or newly 
purchased financial assets going forward. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Bank of China (UK) Limited 
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 

41 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(d) Loans and advances to banks and customers (continued) 
The SPPI test 

As a second step of its classification process, the bank assesses the contractual terms of financial assets to 
identify whether they meet the SPPI test. 

‘Principal’ for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition and 
may change over the life of the financial asset (for example, if there are repayments of principal or amortisation 
of the premium/discount). 

The most significant elements of interest within a lending arrangement are typically the consideration for the 
time value of money and credit risk. To make the SPPI assessment, the bank applies judgement and considers 
relevant factors such as the period for which the interest rate is set. 

In contrast, contractual terms that introduce a more than de minimis exposure to risks or volatility in the 
contractual cash flows that are unrelated to a basic lending arrangement do not give rise to contractual cash 
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the amount outstanding. In such cases, the financial 
asset is required to be measured at FVPL.  

Loans and advances to banks and customers include residential and commercial mortgages, originated and  

syndicated loans.  

(e) Loans designated at fair value through profit and loss (FVPL)  

Loans classified in this category are those that have been designated by management upon initial recognition.  
Management may only designate an instrument at FVPL upon initial recognition when the designation 
eliminates, or significantly reduces, the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise arise from measuring the 
assets or recognising gains or losses on them on a different basis. 

Loans at FVPL are recorded in the statement of financial position at fair value. Changes in fair value are recorded 
in net fair value gain on financial instruments in the income statement.  

(f) Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 

The bank applies IFRS 9 for debt instruments measured at FVOCI when both of the following conditions are 
met: 

x The instrument is held within a business model, the objective of which is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; 

x The contractual terms of the financial asset meet the SPPI test. 

FVOCI debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses arising due to changes 
in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI). Interest income and foreign exchange gains and 
losses are recognised in profit or loss in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost 
as explained in Note 3(d). The expected credit loss (ECL) calculation for debt instruments at FVOCI is explained 
in Note 3(h). Where the bank holds more than one investment in the same security, they are deemed to be 
disposed of on a first–in first–out basis. On derecognition, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in 
OCI are reclassified from OCI to profit or loss. 
 
(g) Loan commitments, guarantees and other financial facilities 

Provision is made for undrawn loan commitments, guarantees and other financial facilities if it is probable that 
the facility will be drawn and result in the recognition of an asset at an amount less than the total facility. 

Issued financial guarantees are initially recognised at fair value and adjusted for transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. The bank’s liability under each guarantee is measured at 
the higher of the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation recognised in the income statement, 
and the ECL provision. Subsequent to initial measurement, changes in the amount of the guarantee are 
recognised in the income statement. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(h) Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

The mechanics of the ECL method are summarised below: 

Stage 1: When loans are first recognised, the bank recognises an allowance based on 12mECLs. Stage 1 loans 
also include facilities where the credit risk has improved and the loan has been reclassified from Stage 2.The 
12mECL is calculated as the portion of LTECLs that represent the ECLs that result from default events on a 
financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. The bank calculates the 
12mECL allowance based on the expectation of a default occurring in the 12 months following the reporting 
date. These expected 12-month default probabilities are applied to a forecast EAD and multiplied by the 
expected LGD and discounted by an approximation to the original EIR. This calculation is made for each of the 
three scenarios, as explained above; 

Stage 2: When a loan has shown a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the bank records an 
allowance for the LTECLs. Stage 2 loans also include facilities, where the credit risk has improved and the loan 
has been reclassified from Stage 3.The mechanics are similar to those explained above, including the use of 
multiple scenarios, but PDs and LGDs are estimated over the lifetime of the instrument. The expected cash 
shortfalls are discounted by an approximation to the original EIR; 

Stage 3: The bank recognises the lifetime expected credit losses for these loans (LTECLs). The method is 
similar to that for Stage 2 assets, with the PD set at 100% and is detailed in Note 6. 

Undrawn loan commitments and letters of credit 
When estimating ECLs for undrawn loan commitments, the bank estimates the expected portion of the loan 
commitment that will be drawn down over its expected life. The ECL is then based on the present value of the 
expected shortfalls in cash flows if the loan is drawn down, based on a probability-weighting of the three 
scenarios. The expected cash shortfalls are discounted at an approximation to the expected EIR on the loan. 

For credit cards and revolving facilities that include both a loan and an undrawn commitment, ECLs are 
calculated and presented together with the loan. For undrawn loan commitments and letters of credit, the ECL 
is recognised within provisions as separately disclosed on the liabilities side of the financial position.  

Financial guarantee contracts 

The bank’s liability under each guarantee is measured at the higher of the amount initially recognised less 
cumulative amortisation recognised in the income statement, and the ECL provision. For this purpose, the bank 
estimates ECLs based on the present value of the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss 
that it incurs. The shortfalls are discounted by the risk-adjusted interest rate relevant to the exposure. The 
calculation is made using a probability-weighting of the three scenarios. The ECLs related to financial guarantee 
contracts are recognised within provisions. 

The calculation of ECLs - Credit cards and other revolving facilities 

The bank’s product offering includes a variety of corporate and retail overdraft and credit cards facilities, in which 
the bank has the right to cancel and/or reduce the facilities with one day’s notice. The bank does not limit its 
exposure to credit losses to the contractual notice period, but, instead calculates ECL over a four year period 
which reflects the bank’s expectations of the customer behaviour, its likelihood of default and the bank’s future 
risk mitigation procedures, which could include reducing or cancelling the facilities. 

The ongoing assessment of whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred for revolving facilities is 
similar to other lending products. This is based on shifts in the customer’s internal credit grade, as explained in 
Note 6(a), but greater emphasis is also given to qualitative factors such as changes in usage. 

The interest rate used to discount the ECLs for credit cards is based on the average effective interest rate that 
is expected to be charged over the expected period of exposure to the facilities. This estimation takes into 
account that many facilities are repaid in full each month and are consequently charged no interest. 

The calculation of ECLs, including the estimation of the expected period of exposure and discount rate is made, 
as explained above, on credit cards and account overdrafts. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(h) Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

Mortgage 

Mortgage Payment Holiday (MPH) is set up to meet the regulatory requirements in response to the potential 
financial impact on mortgage borrowers due to the pandemic, the bank has set up a streamlined process 
following government’s guidance. 

The MPH allowed customers to defer their mortgage payments for a maximum of 6 months. A payment deferral 
means an arrangement under which a lender permits the customer to make no or reduced mortgage payments 
for a specified period without being considered to be in payment shortfall (or arrears). MPH does not change the 
staging of the loans. As of the end of 2020, the bank had a total of 113 MPH cases with total exposure of £28 
million since inception, representing 3% of total mortgages, ECL totalling less than £0.1m.  A number of cases 
were recorded as stage 3, with forbearance measures agreed for the customers. Interest continued to be 
accrued for the deferral period and paid together with the deferred payments during the extended period. 

Corporate  

The bank determines a Watch List which includes all high (and medium high risk) customers. Restructured loans 
(this refers to the loans with repayment terms in the loan agreements modified by the bank) are also in this 
Watch list. During 2020, there was 1 loan restructured with exposure of £24.6m, with no government support. 
The client has been granted payment deferral by the bank. The loan moved from stage 1 to stage 2 in 2020, 
with a substantial increase in ECL of £1.4m.  

Monthly meetings are held to discuss the latest developments and strategies to Watch List names, with the 
involvements of the first line and second line and respective EMC members. This approach ensures higher risk 
customers are closely monitored and appropriate solutions are planned in a timely manner.  

Risk Classification level affects customer’s stage allocation. The bank follows “Corporate Customer Risk 
Classification General Policy and Procedure” on assessing customer risk levels.  

Determining a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition 

The bank records an allowance for expected credit loss for all loans and other debt financial assets not held at 
FVPL, together with loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts.  

IFRS 9 requires the recognition of 12 months expected credit losses (the portion of lifetime expected credit 
losses from default events that are expected within 12 months of the reporting date) if credit risk has not 
significantly increased since initial recognition (stage 1), and lifetime expected credit losses for financial 
instruments for which the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition (stage 2) or which are 
credit impaired (stage 3). The bank assesses when a significant increase in credit risk has occurred based on 
quantitative and qualitative assessments. Exposures are considered to have resulted in a significant increase in 
credit risk and are moved to stage 2 when:  

x Quantitative Test 

The annualised cumulative weighted average lifetime PD has increased by more than the agreed threshold 
relative to the equivalent at origination. The relative thresholds are defined as percentage increases and set at 
an origination score band and segment level have been quantified and are set out in Note 6(a). 

x Qualitative Test 

Accounts that meet the portfolio’s ‘high risk’ criteria and are subject to closer credit monitoring. 

x Backstop Criteria 

Accounts that are 30 days past due. The past due criteria is a backstop rather than a primary driver of moving 
exposures into stage 2.  

Exposures move back to stage 1 once they no longer meet the criteria for a significant increase in credit risk 
and when any cure criteria used for credit risk management are met. This is subject to all payments being up to 
date and the customer evidencing ability and willingness to maintain future payments. Staging for accounting 
purposes is aligned with the management of credit risk. 

Management overlays and other exceptions to model outputs are applied only if consistent with the objective of 
identifying significant increases in credit risk. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
3. Significant accounting policies (continued)  

(h) Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

For the IFRS 9 impairment assessment, the bank’s impairment models are used to determine the PD, LGD and 
EAD. For stage 2 and 3, the bank applies lifetime PDs but uses 12 month PDs for stage 1. The ECL drivers of 
PD, EAD and LGD are modelled at an account level which considers vintage, among other credit factors. Also, 
the assessment of significant increase in credit risk is based on the initial lifetime PD curve, which accounts for 
the different credit risk underwritten over time. 

Input to the ECL model have already considered the impact of Covid19 (e.g. payment holiday and change in 
client rating / risk classification. The underlying macroeconomic data and scenario (base, up and down) used in 
the ECL model are provided by Moody’s and shall also reflect the economic impact of Covid19 as appropriate. 

Definition of default 

According to the IFRS 9 guideline, a facility is generally considered as default when the facility is 90 days past 
due. The bank uses this 90 day backstop for all its products except for mortgages (see Note 6 (ii)). 

Expected life 

Lifetime expected credit losses must be measured over their expected life. This is restricted to the maximum 
contractual life and takes into account expected prepayment, extension, call and similar options. The exceptions 
are certain revolver financial instruments, such as credit cards and bank overdrafts, that include both a drawn 
and an undrawn component where the entity’s contractual ability to demand repayment and cancel the undrawn 
commitment does not limit the entity’s exposure to credit losses to the contractual notice period. The expected 
life for these revolver facilities is their behavioural life. Where data is insufficient or analysis inconclusive, an 
additional ‘maturity factor’ may be incorporated to reflect the full estimated life of the exposures, based upon 
experienced judgement and/or peer analysis. Potential future modifications of contracts are not taken into 
account when determining the expected life or exposure at default until they occur. 

(i) Derecognition of financial liabilities 

The bank derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire. 
(j) Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the bank. Control exists when the bank has the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, 
potential voting rights that presently are exercisable are taken into account.  

The investment in subsidiaries is accounted for at cost less impairment. 

A subsidiary is derecognised when the bank loses control over the subsidiary. The carrying value of the 
subsidiary is measured against the fair value of the consideration received with any resulting gain or loss being 
recognised through the income statement.  

(k) Property, plant and equipment 

Tangible fixed assets are included at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
The value of land (included in premises) is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using a 
straight-line method to allocate the difference between cost and residual value over their estimated useful lives, 
as follows: 

Property (excluding land): 
x Freehold/long and short leasehold premises: shorter of 50 years or the remaining period of the lease; 
x Leasehold improvements: shorter of 10 years or the remaining period of the lease equipment; 
x Furniture and equipment: 4- 5 years; 
x Computer equipment: 4 years; 
x Motor vehicles: 4 years. 

 
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. 
Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. In the event that an asset’s carrying amount is determined to be greater than 
its recoverable amount it is written down immediately. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair 
value less costs to sell and its value in use. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(l) Intangible assets 

Software acquired by the bank is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses.  

Amortisation is recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the 
software, from the date that it is available for use. The estimated useful life of software is three to five years. 

Intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. In the event that an asset’s carrying amount is determined to be greater 
than its recoverable amount it is written down immediately. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s 
fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. 

(m) Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purposes of these financial statements, cash and cash equivalents comprise; cash, non-mandatory 
balances with central banks and amounts due from banks with an original maturity of less than three months. 

(n) Leases  

The bank assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract 
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 

Bank as a lessee 

The bank applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases 
and leases of low-value assets. The bank recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use 
assets representing the right to use the underlying assets. 

(n) Leases 

Right-of-use assets 

The bank recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying 
asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses, and adjusted for any re-measurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets 
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or 
before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. 

The right-of-use assets are presented within Note 22 Fixed assets and right-of-use assets and are subject to 
impairment in line with the bank’s policy as described in Note 3 Impairment of financial assets. 

Lease liabilities 

At the commencement date of the lease, the bank recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of 
lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (less any lease 
incentives receivable), variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be 
paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option 
reasonably certain to be exercised by the bank and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease 
term reflects exercising the option to terminate.  

The bank’s lease liabilities are included in Other Liabilities (see Note 29). 

Determination of the lease term for contracts with renewal and termination options (bank as a lessee) 

The bank determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered 
by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option 
to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised. 

The bank has several lease contracts that include extension and termination options. The bank applies 
judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to renew or 
terminate the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise 
either the renewal or termination. After the commencement date, the bank reassesses the lease term if there is 
a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its control that affects its ability to exercise or not to 
exercise the option to renew or to terminate (e.g., construction of significant leasehold improvements or 
significant customisation of the leased asset). 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
3. Significant accounting policies (continued)  

(n) Leases (continued) 

Estimating the incremental borrowing rate 

The bank cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental 
borrowing rate (‘IBR’) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the bank would have to pay 
to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar 
value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the bank 
‘would have to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries 
that do not enter into financing transactions) or when they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions 
of the lease (for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency).The bank estimates the 
IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is required to make certain 
entity-specific adjustments (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating, or to reflect the terms and 
conditions of the lease). 

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 

The bank applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of property and equipment 
(i.e. those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain 
a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of equipment 
that are considered to be of low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Bank as a lessor 

IFRS 16 does not change substantially how a lessor accounts for leases. Under IFRS 16 leases for which the 
bank is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset to the lessee, the contract is classified 
as a finance lease. Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables at the amount 
of the bank’s net investment in the leases.  

The bank as an intermediate lessor derecognises the right-of-use asset relating to the head lease that it transfers 
to the sublessee and recognises the net investment in the sublease. At recognition any differences between the 
right-of-use asset and the net investment in the sublease is recognised in the profit or loss, and retains the lease 
liability relating to the head lease which represents the lease payments owed to the head lessor. During the term 
of the sublease, the bank recognises both finance income on the sublease and interest expense on the head 
lease.  

All other leases are classified as operating. Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating 
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same 
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned. 

(o) Offset 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when 
there is a legally enforceable right of set-off and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously. 

(p) Borrowings 

Borrowings (which include deposits from banks, customer accounts and subordinated liabilities) are recognised 
initially at fair value, being their issue proceeds net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
3. Significant accounting policies (continued)  
(q) Employee benefits  

Defined contribution plans 

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the income 
statement when they are due. 

Defined benefit plans  

The bank is a Participating Employer in the Bank of China Pension and Life Assurance Plan (“the Plan”) that 
provides pension benefits for employees upon retirement. The Bank of China Limited is the Principal Employer 
of the Plan and through its London Branch the sponsor (“the sponsor”). The Plan was closed to new employees 
in December 2004 and to future accrual in March 2016 . There is no contractual obligation on the bank to make 
good any shortfall between the Plans assets and liabilities, pay any contributions or receive any of the surplus 
should one exist.   

(r) Short-term benefits 

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the 
related service is provided. 

A provision is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing 
plans if the bank has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service 
provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

 (s) Taxation 

Income tax on the profit for the year comprises current tax and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the 
income statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in other comprehensive income 
or directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in other comprehensive income or equity. 

Current tax is the tax expected to be paid on the taxable profit for the year, calculated using tax rates enacted 
or substantially enacted at the reporting date. 

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred income tax is 
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the reporting date 
and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax 
liability is settled. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it 
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be 
recovered. 

(t) Provisions 

The bank operates in a regulatory and legal environment that, by nature, has a heightened element of litigation 
risk inherent to its operations. As a result, it is involved in various litigation, arbitration and regulatory 
investigations and proceedings both in the UK and in other jurisdictions, arising in the ordinary course of the 
bank’s business. 

When the bank can reliably measure the outflow of economic benefits in relation to a specific case and considers 
such outflows to be probable, the bank records a provision against the case. Where the probability of outflow is 
considered to be remote, or probable, but a reliable estimate cannot be made, a contingent liability is disclosed. 
However, when the bank is of the opinion that disclosing these estimates on a case-by-case basis would 
prejudice their outcome, then the bank does not include detailed, case-specific disclosers in its financial 
statements. 

Given the subjectivity and uncertainty of determining the probability and amount of losses, the bank takes into 
account a number of factors including legal advice, the stage of the matter and historical evidence from similar 
incidents. Significant judgement is required to conclude on these estimates. 

For further details on provisions and other contingencies see Note 33(c). 

(u) Share capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of an equity 
instrument are deducted from the initial measurement of the equity instrument. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(v) Going concern 

The Board has given its consideration to the going concern status of the bank as at the reporting date. The 
board have considered financial forecasts running out to December 2022 which included our latest business 
assumptions. The Board have taken in to consideration the current economic environment, the bank’s business 
model, financial forecast and capital requirements and is satisfied that it has the resources to continue in 
business for a period of at least 12 months from the date of this report. The going concern assessment also 
considered specific Covid-19 stresses including the bank’s ability to continue to meet customer’s needs whilst 
taking measures to protect the health and safety of staff which has largely been achieved by the resilience over 
business operations provided by the ability for staff to be able to work from home. The Board further considered 
various additional stress scenarios including stresses on the bank’s mortgage and aircraft portfolios, and 
significant downward revisions to the financial forecast over the assessment period. These stresses were 
identified as the most likely challenging scenarios the bank would face should the Covid-19 pandemic have a 
higher economic impact than we currently anticipated with our forecast. The Board considered the effect of these 
stresses on capital resources which remains strong.  

After due consideration the Board is of the opinion that the bank will continue as a going concern for a period of 
at least 12 months from the date of this report , generating cash flows from its continuing operations, but taking 
additional comfort from a two year financial forecast and a strong capital position to support this assumption. 

Furthermore, the Board is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on the bank’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the financial statements continue to be prepared on the going 
concern basis. 

(w) Effective interest rate method 

The bank’s EIR method recognises interest income using a rate of return that represents the best estimate of a 
constant rate of return over the expected behavioural life of loans and deposits and recognises the effect of 
potentially different interest rates charged at various stages and other characteristics of the product life cycle 
(including prepayments and penalty interest and charges). This estimation, by nature, requires an element of 
judgement regarding the expected behaviour and life-cycle of the instruments, as well expected changes to the 
UK’s base rate and other fee income/expense that are integral parts of the instrument. 

4. Critical estimates and judgements 

The bank makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The estimates and assumptions that could 
have significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within the next financial 
year are highlighted below and within Note 6.  

(a) Fair value of financial instruments 

The fair value of financial instruments is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the measurement date under 
current market conditions (i.e., an exit price) regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated 
using another valuation technique. When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in 
the statement of financial position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety 
of valuation techniques that include the use of valuation models. The inputs to these models are taken from 
observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, estimation is required in establishing fair 
values.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
4. Critical estimates and judgements (continued) 

(b) Expected Credit Loss 

The measurement of impairment losses under IFRS 9 across all categories of financial assets requires 
judgement, in particular, the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows and collateral values when 
determining impairment losses and the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk. These estimates are 
driven by a number of factors, changes in which can result in different levels of allowances. 

The bank’s ECL calculations are outputs from complex models with a number of underlying assumptions 
regarding the choice of variable inputs and their interdependencies. Elements of the ECL models that are 
considered accounting judgements and estimates include: 

The bank’s internal credit grading model, which assigns PDs to the individual grades; 

The bank’s criteria for assessing if there has been a significant increase in credit risk and so whether allowances 
for financial assets should be measured on a LTECL basis and the qualitative assessment; 

The segmentation of financial assets when their ECL is assessed on a collective basis; 

Development of ECL models, including the various formulae and the choice of inputs; 

Determination of associations between macroeconomic scenarios and, economic inputs, such as unemployment 
levels and collateral values, and the effect on PDs, EADs and LGDs; 

Selection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their probability weightings, to derive the economic 
inputs into the ECL models. 

(c) Provisions and other contingent liabilities 

The bank operates in a regulatory and legal environment that, by nature, has a heightened element of litigation 
risk inherent to its operations. As a result, it is involved in various litigation, arbitration and regulatory 
investigations and proceedings both in the UK and in other jurisdictions, arising in the ordinary course of the 
bank’s business. 

When the bank can reliably measure the outflow of economic benefits in relation to a specific case and considers 
such outflows to be probable, the bank records a provision against the case. Where the probability of outflow is 
considered to be remote, or probable, but a reliable estimate cannot be made, a contingent liability is disclosed. 
However, when the bank is of the opinion that disclosing these estimates on a case-by-case basis would 
prejudice their outcome, then the bank does not include detailed, case-specific disclosers in its financial 
statements. 

Given the subjectivity and uncertainty of determining the probability and amount of losses, the bank takes into 
account a number of factors including legal advice, the stage of the matter and historical evidence from similar 
incidents. Significant judgement is required to conclude on these estimates. For further details on provisions 
and other contingencies see Note 33(c).  

 

5. Changes in accounting policies and disclosures 

New and amended standards and interpretations 

Amendments to IFRS 7, IFRS 9 and IAS 39 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform  

The amendments to IFRS 9 and IAS 39 Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement provide a number 
of reliefs, which apply to all hedging relationships that are directly affected by interest rate benchmark reform. A 
hedging relationship is affected if the reform gives rise to uncertainty about the timing and/or amount of 
benchmark-based cash flows of the hedged item or the hedging instrument. The bank has elected not to apply 
hedge accounting.  

LIBOR Transition 

The bank has established an London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) Transition Working Group (ITWG) to 
manage the transition from LIBOR to alternative reference rates (ARRs) in accordance with UK regulators' 
expectations to stop all new issuance of sterling LIBOR-referencing loan products by the end of the first quarter 
of 2021, and to transfer all existing exposures to new ARRs prior to the end of 2021. 

The bank has minimal exposures to corporate lending and derivative contracts referencing LIBOR past 
December 2021 and there is no LIBOR exposure on the retail lending book. The bank has not early adopted the 
IBOR amendment. The bank is IBOR transition plan is following the Risk Free Rate Working Group (RFRWG) 
milestone.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
5. Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued) 

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 Definition of Material  
The amendments provide a new definition of material that states, “information is material if omitting, misstating 
or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose 
financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which provide financial information about 
a specific reporting entity.” The amendments clarify that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude of 
information, either individually or in combination with other information, in the context of the financial statements. 
A misstatement of information is material if it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions made by the 
primary users. These amendments had no impact on the financial statements of, nor is there expected to be 
any future impact to the bank. 

Amendments to IFRS 16 Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions  

On 28 May 2020, the IASB issued Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions - amendment to IFRS 16 Leases The 
amendments provide relief to lessees from applying IFRS 16 guidance on lease modification accounting for rent 
concessions arising as a direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic. As a practical expedient, a lessee may 
elect not to assess whether a Covid-19 related rent concession from a lessor is a lease modification. A lessee 
that makes this election accounts for any change in lease payments resulting from the Covid-19 related rent 
concession the same way it would account for the change under IFRS 16, if the change were not a lease 
modification. The amendment applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020. Earlier 
application is permitted. This amendment had no impact on the financial statements of the bank. 

Standards issued but not yet effective 

Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 

In January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to paragraphs 69 to 76 of IAS 1 to specify the requirements for 
classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments clarify: 
• What is meant by a right to defer settlement 
• That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period 
• That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right 
• That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument would the terms of a 
liability not impact its classification 
The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and must be 
applied retrospectively. The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the bank. 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use – Amendments to IAS 16 

In May 2020, the IASB issued Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use, which prohibits 
entities deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment, any proceeds from selling items 
produced while bringing that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in 
the manner intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from selling such items, and 
the costs of producing those items, in profit or loss. 
The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and must be 
applied retrospectively to items of property, plant and equipment made available for use on or after the beginning 
of the earliest period presented when the entity first applies the amendment. The amendments are not expected 
to have a material impact on the bank. 
 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – Fees in the ’10 per cent’ test for derecognition of financial liabilities 

As part of its 2018-2020 annual improvements to IFRS standards process the IASB issued amendment to IFRS 
9. The amendment clarifies the fees that an entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or 
modified financial liability are substantially different from the terms of the original financial liability. These fees 
include only those paid or received between the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received by 
either the borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. An entity applies the amendment to financial liabilities that 
are modified or exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies 
the amendment. 
The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 with earlier 
adoption permitted. The bank will apply the amendments to financial liabilities that are modified or exchanged 
on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the amendment. The 
amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the bank. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
6.  Financial risk management 

Introduction and overview 

The bank has exposure to the following risks from financial instruments: 
 
x Credit risk 
x Liquidity risk 
x Market risk 
x Capital management 

This note presents information about the bank’s exposure to each of the above risks, the bank’s objectives, 
policies and procedures for measuring and managing risk, and the bank’s management of capital. 

Risk management framework 
The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the bank’s risk management 
framework. The Board has established the bank’s Board Risk Committee (“BRC”) which is responsible for the 
oversight and implementation of risk strategy and risk appetite within the bank, oversight of risk management 
performance and the executive committees including Risk Management & Internal Control Committee, Credit 
Risk Management & Decision Committee, Operational Risk Committee, Compliance Committee, Operational 
Resilience & Controls Committee, Assets and Liabilities Management Committee, and IT Management 
Committee. These committees are responsible for developing and monitoring the bank’s risk management 
policies in their specified areas. The bank’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse 
the risks faced by the bank, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to 
limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions, 
products and services offered. Internal Audit department undertakes both regular and ad-hoc reviews of the risk 
management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit Committee. 

The bank, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and 
constructive control environment, in which all employees understand their roles and responsibilities. 

6.  Financial risk management  

(a) Credit risk  

Financial risk management  

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the bank if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to 
meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the bank’s loans and advances to customers, loans 
designated at fair value through profit and loss and debt securities. 

Credit risk management framework 

The bank has established a set of credit risk management policies and procedures, and appropriate credit risk 
limits to manage and control credit risk that arises through the bank’s normal business activities. These policies, 
procedures and limits are regularly reviewed in light of changes in markets and business strategies. 

The bank’s organisation structure establishes clear authority and responsibilities for monitoring compliance with 
policies, procedures and limits, based on the principle of ‘Three Lines of Defence’. 

The business units are responsible for the day-to-day management of credit risk with the Risk Management 
Department being responsible for risk oversight and ensuring procedural compliance as well as the drafting, 
reviewing and updating of credit risk management policies and procedures. The Internal Audit function 
represents the third line of defence. 

The Board has the highest credit approval authority for the bank. The Board has delegated its authority to the 
Board Risk Committee and the Chief Executive Officer (the “CEO”) of the bank. The CEO of the bank has 
delegated credit approval authority to Branch Managers, subject to Board approval.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
6.  Financial risk management (continued) 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 

Corporate lending 
For corporate lending, the customers are assessed by specialised credit risk employees of the bank. The credit 
risk assessment is based on a credit scoring model that takes into account various historical, current and 
forward-looking information such as: 

x Historical financial information together with forecasts and budgets prepared by the client. This financial 
information includes realised and expected results, solvency ratios, liquidity ratios and any other relevant 
ratios to measure the client’s financial performance. Some of these indicators are captured in covenants 
with the clients and are, therefore, measured with greater attention; 

x Any publicly available information on the clients from external parties. This includes external rating grades 
issued by rating agencies, independent analyst reports, publicly traded bond or CDS prices or press releases 
and articles; 

x Any macro-economic or geopolitical information, e.g. GDP growth relevant for the specific industry and 
geographical segments where the client operates; 

x Any other objectively supportable information on the quality and abilities of the client’s management relevant 
for the company’s performance. 

The complexity and granularity of the rating techniques varies based on the exposure of the bank and the 
complexity and size of the customer.  

Retail lending 

Retail lending comprises unsecured personal loans, credit cards and overdrafts. These products along with retail 
mortgages and some of the less complex small business lending are rated primarily by days past due. Other 
key inputs into the models are: 

x Consumer lending products: use of limits and volatility thereof, GDP growth, unemployment rates; 

x Retail mortgages: GDP growth, unemployment rates. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

6.  Financial risk management (continued) 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 

The bank’s internal credit rating grades 
Internal 
Rating 
Grade 

Internal 
Rating 
Score 

Internal Rating Description 12 Month Basel 
III PD Range* 

Equivalent 
S&P 
Rating 

Classification 

Performing 

aaa1 1 Above Investment Grade - Lowest Default 
Risk Group - Strongest 0.01% aura Performing 

aaa2 2 Above Investment Grade - Extremely Low 
Default Risk Group - Strong 0.01% - 0.02% aa+ Performing 

aaa3 3 Above Investment Grade - Extremely Low 
Default Risk Group - Medium 0.01% - 0.02% aa Performing 

aaa4 4 Above Investment Grade - Extremely Low 
Default Risk Group - Low 0.02% - 0.04% aa- Performing 

aaa5 5 Above Investment Grade - Low Default Risk 
Group - Strong 

0.04% - 0.06% a+ High grade 

aaa6 6 Above Investment Grade - Low Default Risk 
Group - Medium 

0.06% - 0.09% a High grade 

aaa7 7 Above Investment Grade - Low Default Risk 
Group - Low 

0.10% - 0.14% a- High grade 

aa1 8 Above Investment Grade - Relatively low 
Default Risk Group - Strong 

0.15% - 0.21% bbb+ High grade 

aa2 9 Above Investment Grade - Relatively low 
Default Risk Group - Medium 

0.24% - 0.33% bbb High grade 

aa3 10 Above Investment Grade - Relatively low 
Default Risk Group - Low 

0.37% - 0.51% bbb- High grade 

a1 
11 

Below Investment Grade - Medium Default 
Risk Group - Strongest 0.57% - 0.78% bb+ Standard grade 

a2 Below Investment Grade - Medium Default 
Risk Group - Strong 

a3 
12 

Below Investment Grade - Medium Default 
Risk Group - Relatively Strong 0.88% - 1.20% bb Standard grade 

a4 Below Investment Grade - Medium Default 
Risk Group - Medium 

bbb1 
13 

Below Investment Grade - Medium Default 
Risk Group - Medium Low 1.34% - 1.85% bb- Standard grade 

bbb2 Below Investment Grade - Medium Default 
Risk Group - Low 

bbb3 
14 

Below Investment Grade - Medium High 
Default Risk Group - Strong 2.05% - 2.84% b+ Standard grade 

bb1 Below Investment Grade - Medium High 
Default Risk Group - Low 

bb2 
15 

Below Investment Grade - High Default Risk 
Group - Strong 3.14% - 4.37% b Standard grade 

b1 Below Investment Grade - High Default Risk 
Group - Low 

b2 

16 

Below Investment Grade - Relatively High 
Default Risk Group - Strong 

4.81% - 6.72% b- Standard grade ccc1 Below Investment Grade - Relatively High 
Default Risk Group - Medium 

ccc2 Below Investment Grade - Relatively High 
Default Risk Group - Low 

cc1 17 Below Investment Grade - Extremely High 
Default Risk Group - Strong 7.36% - 10.35% ccc+ Sub-standard grade 

cc2 18 Below Investment Grade - Extremely High 
Default Risk Group - Medium 11.27% - 16.10% ccc Sub-standard grade 

c 19 Below Investment Grade - Extremely High 
Default Risk Group - Low 17.25% - 25.64% ccc- Past due (less than 

90 days) 
Non-Performing 

d  Overdue over 90 days or not able to fully 
repay 100% d Non-performing 

individually impaired 
*The ranges are derived by taking the maximum and minimum PD values (where different) from the Global, Europe, US and 
UK regions 



Bank of China (UK) Limited 
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 

58 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
6.  Financial risk management (continued) 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 

(iv) Exposure at default  

Exposure at default (EAD) represents the gross carrying amount of financial instruments subject to impairment 
calculation, addressing both the client’s ability to increase its exposure while approaching default and potential 
early repayments too. To calculate the EAD for a Stage 1 loan, the bank assesses the possible default events 
within 12 months for the calculation of the 12mECL. For Stage 2, Stage 3 and purchased or originated credit-
impaired (POCI) financial assets, EAD is considered for events over the lifetime of the instruments. 

The bank determines EADs by modelling the range of possible exposure outcomes at various points in time, 
corresponding to the multiple scenarios. The IFRS 9 PDs are then assigned to each economic scenario based 
on the outcome of the bank’s models. 

(v) Loss given default  

Under IFRS 9, LGD rates are estimated for the Stage 1, Stage 2, Stage 3 IFRS 9 segment of each asset class. 

For corporate loans, LGD values are assessed by an externally developed model. The credit risk assessment 
is based on a standardised LGD assessment framework that results in a certain LGD rate. These LGD rates 
take into account the expected EAD in comparison to the amount expected to be recovered or realised from any 
collateral held. 

The bank segments its retail lending products into smaller homogeneous portfolios, based on key characteristics 
that are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows. The applied data is based on historically collected loss 
data and involves a wider set of transaction characteristics such as product and collateral types as well as 
customer characteristics. 

Further recent data and forward-looking economic scenarios are used in order to determine the IFRS 9 LGD 
rate for each group of financial instruments. When assessing forward-looking information, the expectation is 
based on multiple scenarios. Examples of key inputs involve changes in collateral values, including property 
prices for mortgages, payment status or other factors that are indicative of losses in the group. 

(vi) Significant increase in credit risk 

The bank continuously monitors all assets subject to ECLs. In order to determine whether an instrument or a 
portfolio of instruments is subject to 12mECL or LTECL, the bank assesses whether there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. The bank considers an exposure to have significantly increased 
in credit risk when the score, derived from internal rating at the calculation date, has worsened by more than as 
defined below compared with the score at the time of the contract origination.  

 
S&P Rating Rating Score Notches Downgrade Stage 2 
aaa 
aa+ 
aa 
aa- 
a+ 
a 
a- 
bbb+ 
bbb 
bbb- 
bb+ 
bb 
bb- 
b+ 
b 
b- 
ccc+ 
ccc 
ccc- 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 
10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 

9 
8 
7 
6 
5 
4 
3 
2 
1 
2 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 

 
The bank also applies a secondary qualitative method for triggering a significant increase in credit risk for an 
asset, such as moving a customer/facility to the watch list. In certain cases, the bank may also consider that 
events are a significant increase in credit risk as opposed to a default. Regardless of the change in credit grades, 
if contractual payments are 30 days past due, the credit risk is deemed to have increased significantly since 
initial recognition. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
6.  Financial risk management (continued) 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 

(vi) Significant increase in credit risk (continued) 

When estimating ECLs on a collective basis for a group of similar assets, the bank applies the same principles 
for assessing whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. 

(vii) Grouping financial assets measured on a collective basis 

Independent of the factors below, the bank calculates ECLs either on a collective or an individual basis. 

Asset classes where the bank calculates ECL on an individual basis include: 

x Corporate loans 

x Mortgage loans 

x Government bonds 

x Interbank loans 

Asset classes where the bank calculates ECL on a collective basis include: 

x Credit cards 

x Account overdrafts 

 
(viii) Risk concentration to industries 

Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of the bank’s performance to developments affecting a particular 
industry or geographical location. The bank’s concentrations of risk ae managed by client/counterparty, 
geographical region (see table (x)) and industry sector. The maximum credit exposure for corporate business is 
£219m to transport, storage and utilities (2019: £212m).  
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
6.  Financial risk management (continued) 

(ix) Credit exposure loan to value ratios of the mortgage portfolio 

The tables below summarise the bank’s retail portfolio (gross values of exposures) loan to value (LTV) ratios. 

Financial Position Category Business Model Portfolio Lending Type 0-30% 30-60% 60-90% 90-100% 100-120% 120+% Total 

       £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
          

Loans and advances to customers Housing loans  Buy-to-Let Mortgages 1,271 1,803 324 -    -    -    3,398 
Loans and advances to customers Mortgage loans Owner Occupied Mortgages 29,376 116,799 23,356 -    -    -    169,531 
Loans and advances to customers Mortgage loans Buy-to-Let Mortgages 29,192 279,826 433,806 -    -    -    742,824 
Loans and advances to customers Mortgage loans Commercial 717 780 - -    -    -    1,497 

          
          

 At 31 December 2020    60,556 399,208 457,486 -    -    -    917,250 
      

Financial Position Category Business Model Portfolio Lending Type 0-30% 30-60% 60-90% 90-100% 100-120% 120+% Total 

      £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
          

Loans and advances to customers Housing loans  Buy-to-Let Mortgages 1,364 2,190 965 -    -    -    5,893 
Loans and advances to customers Mortgage loans Owner Occupied Mortgages 28,462 129,091 33,177 -    -    -    231,235 
Loans and advances to customers Mortgage loans Buy-to-Let Mortgages 27,448 242,185 365,474 -    -    -    533,833 
Loans and advances to customers Mortgage loans Commercial 629 1,130 -    -    -    -    2,791 

          
 At 31 December 2019    57,903 374,596 399,616 -    -    -    773,752 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)  
(x) Analysis of risk concentration in the financial position  

Disclosures within Note 6, a) Credit Risk, are presented excluding balances relating to demand deposits, placements and other receivables with other Bank of China 
group entities. The amounts excluded are £49.6m of demand deposits (2019: £35.1m), £88.5m of loans and advances to banks (2019: £62.6m) and £17.2m of other 
receivables (2019: £29.3m). These balances are all allocated to Stage 1 (2019: Stage 1). The expected credit loss allowance related to these balances is immaterial 
(2019: immaterial). 

Business Model Portfolio Global Stage Europe Stage US Stage UK Stage Retail Stage Collateral Total 
 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3   
  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cash and cash equivalents                  

Cash balances with bank  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    360,115    -    -    -    -    -    -    360,115    

Other demand deposits 414    -    -    30   -   -    36,012    -    -    33,380    -    -    -    -    -    -    69,836    

Loans and advances to banks                  

Syndicated loans 21,976    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    21,976    

Loans and advances to customers                  

Wholesale loans 2,333    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    2,654 -    -    -    -    -    -    4,987    

Housing loans  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    3,229    169    -    -    -    -    11,071    3,398    

Syndicated loans 11,116    44,639    - 58,446      -    -    -    -    -    40,174    60,895    -    -    -    -    -    215,270    

Factoring financing -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    4,097    -    -    -    -    -    4,097    

Overdraft corporate accounts -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    1    -    -    -    -    -    1    

Overdraft personal accounts -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    

Credit Cards -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    442    5    13    -   460    

Mortgage loans -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    876,173    33,754    3,926    1,871,213    913,853    

Financing Order -    -    -    -    -    -    565    90    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   655    

Debt instruments at amortised cost                  

Other bonds held to maturity -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    

Other Assets                  

Margin Deposits -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    55,338    -    -    -    -    -    -    55,338    

  35,839    44,639    -    58,476    -    -    36,577    90    -    494,890    65,162    -    876,615    33,759    3,939    1,882,284    1,649,986    
                  

Off Balance Sheet                  

OBS - Letter of credit -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    283    -    -    -    -    -   283    

OBS - Guarantee 24,541    -    -    340    -    -    -    -    -    2,625       41,627       -    -    -    -    -    69,133    

OBS - Other ,-    -    -    29,301    -    -    26,371    -    -    116,579    -    -    10,755    822  -    7,228    183,828    

  24.541    -    -    29.641    -    -    26,371    -   -    119,204    41,910    -    10.755    822  -    7,228    253,244    

At 31 December 2020 60,380    44,639    -    88,117    -    -    62,948    90    -    614,094    107,072    -    887,370    34,581    3,939    1,889,512    1,903,230 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)  
(x) Analysis of risk concentration in the financial position (continued) 

Prior year comparative changed by adding collateral held for each portfolio. 
 

 Global Europe US UK Retail Collateral Total 

Business Model Portfolio Stage Stage Stage Stage Stage   

 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3   

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cash and cash equivalents                  

Cash balances with bank  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    251,255    -    -    -    -    -    -    251,255    

Other demand deposits 213 - - 1,776 - - 26,212 - - 15,974 - - - - - - 44,175 

Loans and advances to banks                  

Syndicated loans 22,707 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 22,707 

Loans and advances to customers                  

Wholesale loans - -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    2,629    -    -    -    -    -    - 2,629 

Housing loans  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    4,519 -    -    -    -    -    13,060 4,519 

Syndicated loans 39,684 -    -    64,691 -    -    -    -    -    124,777 -    -    -    -    -    - 229,152 

Factoring financing -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    686 -    -    -    -    -    - 686 

Overdraft corporate accounts -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    1 -    -    -    -    -    - 1 

Overdraft personal accounts -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    2 -    -    - 2 

Credit Cards -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    732 34 12 - 778 

Mortgage loans -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    803,540 22,290 1,766 1,701,959 827,596 

Financing Order -    -    -    -    -    -    93 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    - 93 

Debt instruments at amortised cost                  

Other bonds held to maturity -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    50,431 -    -    -    -    -    - 50,431 
Other Assets                  

Margin Deposits -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    19,948 -    -    -    -    -    - 19,948 
                  

  62,604 -    -    66,467 -    -    26,305 -    -    470,220 -    -    804,274 22,324 1,778 1,715,019 1,453,972 
                  

Off Balance Sheet                  
OBS - Letter of credit -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -     

OBS - Guarantee 35,548 -    -    321 -    -    -    -    -    2,051 434 -    -    -    -    - 38,354 

OBS - Other 7,306 -    -    68,482 -    -    27,249 -    -    91,977 -    -    7,112 -    -    1,992 202,126 

  42,854 -    -    68,803 -    -    27,249 -    -    94,028 434 -    7,112 -    -    1,992 240,480 

At 31 December 2019 105,458 -    -    135,270 -    -    53,554 -    -    564,248 434 -    811,386 22,325 1,778 1,717,011 1,694,453 



Bank of China (UK) Limited 
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020  

63 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
(x) Analysis of risk concentration in the financial position (continued) 

The bank’s concentrations of risk are managed by client/counterparty and geographical region. The maximum on balance sheet credit exposure to any client or 
counterparty as of 31 December 2020 was £36 million (2019: £38 million), before taking into account the fair value of collateral held of £1,882 million (2019: £1,715 
million), or other credit enhancements and the maximum off balance sheet credit exposure to any client or counterparty as of 31 December 2020 was £49 million 
(2019: £38 million). The table above shows the risk concentration by geography for the business model portfolios in the statement of financial position when classified 
as amortised cost measurement has been made. Additional disclosures for credit quality and the maximum exposure for credit risk per categories based on the bank’s 
internal credit rating system and year-end stage classification are further disclosed below.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

 (xi) Credit loss charges 

The table below shows the ECL provisions on financial instruments for the year recorded in the financial position.  
Financial Position Category Global Europe US UK Retail Total 

Business Model Portfolio Stage Stage Stage Stage Stage  

 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3  

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
                 
Cash and cash equivalents                 

Cash balances with banks -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    
 Other demand deposits - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

Loans and advances to banks                 
 Syndicated loans 30 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 30 

Loans and advances to customers                 
Wholesale loans 1 - - - - - - - - 43 - - - - - 44 
Housing loans  - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Syndicated loans 30 1,185 - 159 - - - - - 92 1,500 - - - - 2,966 
Factoring financing - - - - - - - - - - 40 - - - - 40 
Overdraft on corporate accounts - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Overdraft on personal accounts - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Credit Cards - - - - - - - - - - - - 6 - 12 18 
Mortgage loans - - - - - - - - - - - - 944 50 70 1,064 
Financing Order - - - - - - 1 - - - - - - - - 1 

Debt instruments at amortised cost                 
Other bonds held to maturity -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    - -    -    -    -    -    - 

Other Assets                 
Margin Deposits - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

  61 1,185 - 159 - - 1 - - 135 1,540 - 950 50 82 4,163 
                 
Off Balance Sheet                 

OBS - Letter of credit - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 
OBS - Guarantee 7 - - - - - - - - 6 105 - - - - 118 
OBS - Other - - - 30 - - 9 - - 104 - - 45 4 - 192 

  7 - - 30 - - 9 - - 110 105 - 45 4 - 310 
At 31 December 2020 68 1,185 - 189 - - 10 - - 245 1,645 - 995 54 82 4,473 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
(xi) Credit loss charges (continued) 

 

Financial Position Category Global Europe US UK Retail Total 

Business Model Portfolio Stage Stage Stage Stage Stage  

 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3  

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
                 
Cash and cash equivalents                 

On demand deposits -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    
Loans and advances to banks                 
 Syndicated loans 99 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 99 

Loans and advances to customers                 
Wholesale loans - -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    8    -    -    -    -    -    8 
Housing loans  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    - -    -    -    -    -    - 
Syndicated loans 133 -    -    47 -    -    -    -    -    169 -    -    -    -    -    349 
Factoring financing -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    - -    -    -    -    -    - 
Overdraft on corporate accounts -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    - -    -    -    -    -    - 
Overdraft on personal accounts -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    - -    -    - 
Credit Cards -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    9 1 20 30 
Mortgage loans -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    634 76 12 722 
Financing Order -    -    -    -    -    -    - -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    - 

Debt instruments at amortised cost                 
Other bonds held to maturity -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   -    -    -    -    -    -   
Other Assets                 
Margin Deposits - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

  232 -    -    47 -    -    - -    -    177 -    -    643 77 32 1,208 

                 
Off Balance Sheet                 

OBS - Letter of credit -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    
OBS - Guarantee 5 -    -    - -    -    -    -    -    4 2 -    -    -    -    11 
OBS - Other 5 -    -    28 -    -    16 -    -    6 -    -    36 -    -    91 

  10 -    -    28 -    -    16 -    -    10 2 -    36 -    -    102 
At 31 December 2019 242 -    -    75 -    -    16 -    -    187 2 -    678 77 32 1,310 



Bank of China (UK) Limited 
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020  

66 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)  
(xii) Impairment allowance analysis 

The following provides an analysis of how significant changes in gross balances over the year have contributed to changes in ECLs. 

On Balance Sheet Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
  £000 £000 £000 £000 

     
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2020 1,429,870 22,325 1,777 1,453,972 
New assets originated or purchased 446,199 - - 446,199 
Assets derecognised or repaid (excluding write offs) (237,922) (8,674) (335) (246,931) 
Transfers to Stage 1 12,234 (12,234) - - 
Transfers to Stage 2 (146,324) 146,904 (580) - 
Transfers to Stage 3 - (3,077) 3,077 - 
Amounts written off - - - - 
Foreign exchange adjustments (1,659) (1,594) - (3,253) 
     
Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2020 1,502,398 143,650 3,939 1,649,987 

     
On Balance Sheet Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
  £000 £000 £000 £000 

     
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2019 1,136,717 29,296 686 1,166,699 
New assets originated or purchased* 532,096 - - 532,096 
Assets derecognised or repaid (excluding write offs) (234,354) (6,117) (301) (240,772) 
Transfers to Stage 1 15,350 (15,350) - - 
Transfers to Stage 2* (15,888) 16,129 (241) - 
Transfers to Stage 3* - (1,633) 1,633 -    
Amounts written off - -    -    -    
Foreign exchange adjustments (4,051) -    -    (4,051) 
     
Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2019 1,429,870 22,325 1,777         1,453,972  
 
*The 2019 disclosure has been restated to present gross carrying amounts of £3,261,000 originating in Stage 1 and then transferring from Stage 1 
to Stage 2 or Stage 2 to Stage 3, as opposed to being recognised directly in Stage 2/3, to accurately present the flow of amounts between stages.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
(xiii) Credit loss expense 
 
On Balance Sheet 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

 
    

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2020 1,098 77 23 1,198 
New assets originated or purchased 1,070 - - 1,070 
Assets derecognised or repaid (excluding write offs) (61) (1) (12) (74) 
Transfers to Stage 1 71 (71) - - 
Transfers to Stage 2 (847) 847 - - 
Transfers to Stage 3 - (1) 1 - 
Impact on year end ECL of exposures transferred between stages 
during the year (62) 1,843 68 1,849 
Unwind of discount - - - - 
Changes to models and inputs used for ECL calculations 41 90 1 132 
Recoveries - - - - 
Amounts written off - - - - 
Foreign exchange adjustments (4) (9) - (13) 
     
ECL allowance as at 31 December 2020 1,306 2,775 81 4,162 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
(xiii) Credit loss expense 
 
On Balance Sheet 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

 
    

     
ECL allowance as at 1 January 2019 704 70 49 823 
New assets originated or purchased 377 - - 377 
Assets derecognised or repaid (excluding write offs) (177) (6) -    (183) 
Transfers to Stage 1 55 (55) - -    
Transfers to Stage 2 (6) 44 (38) -    
Transfers to Stage 3 - -    - -    
Impact on year end ECL of exposures transferred between stages 
during the year (44) 21 4 (19) 
Unwind of discount -    -    -    -    
Changes to models and inputs used for ECL calculations 193 3    8    204 
Recoveries -    -    -    -    
Amounts written off -    -    -    -    
Foreign exchange adjustments (4)    -    -    (4)    
     
ECL allowance as at 31 December 2019 1,098 77 23 1,198 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
(xiii) Credit loss expense (continued) 
 

 
 
Off Balance Sheet Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 

     
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2020 240,046 434 - 240,480 
New assets originated or purchased 109,003 - - 109,003 
Assets derecognised or repaid (excluding write offs) (93,875) - - (93,875) 
Transfers to Stage 1 434 (434) - - 
Transfers to Stage 2 (42,732) 42,732 - - 
Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 
Amounts written off - - - - 
Foreign exchange adjustments (2,363) - - (2,363) 
        
Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2020 210,513 42,732 - 253,245 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
(xiii) Credit loss expense (continued) 
 

 
 
Off Balance Sheet Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 

     
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2019 259,412 310 - 259,722 
New assets originated or purchased 49,413 - - 49,413 
Assets derecognised or repaid (excluding write offs) (64,413) (110) - (64,523) 
Transfers to Stage 1 - - - - 
Transfers to Stage 2 (234) 234 - - 
Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 
Amounts written off - - - - 
Foreign exchange adjustments (4,132) - - (4,132) 
        
Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2019 240,046 434 - 240,480 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
(xiii) Credit loss expense (continued) 

 
 
Off Balance Sheet Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 

 
    

ECL allowance as at 1 January 2020 101 1 - 102 
New assets originated or purchased 107 - - 107 
Assets derecognised or repaid (excluding write offs) (21) - - (21) 
Transfers to Stage 1 2 (2) - - 
Transfers to Stage 2 - - - - 
Transfers to Stage 3 - - - - 
Impact on year end ECL of exposures transferred between stages 
during the year - 109 - 109 
Unwind of discount - - - - 
Changes to models and inputs used for ECL calculations 14 - - 14 
Recoveries - - - - 
Amounts written off - - - - 
Foreign exchange adjustments (1) - - (1) 
        
ECL allowance as at 31 December 2020 202 108  310 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
(xiii) Credit loss expense (continued) 

 
Off Balance Sheet Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 

 
    

     
ECL allowance as at 1 January 2019 95 1 -    96 
New assets originated or purchased 9 - -    9 
Assets derecognised or repaid (excluding write offs) (12) - -    (12) 
Transfers to Stage 1 -    -    -    -    
Transfers to Stage 2 - - -    -    
Transfers to Stage 3 -    -    -    -    
Impact on year end ECL of exposures transferred between stages 
during the year -    - -    - 
Unwind of discount -    -    -    -    
Changes to models and inputs used for ECL calculations 10  -    10 
Recoveries -    -    -    -    
Amounts written off -    -    -    -    
Foreign exchange adjustments (1)    -    -    (1)    
    -    
ECL allowance as at 31 December 2019 101 1 -    102 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
(xiv) Impairment allowance analysis – internal rating grading 

The following provides an analysis of the gross carrying amounts split by the internal rating grade.  

 
 
On Balance Sheet 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 

 
    

Internal rating grade     
Performing 1,236,760 - - 1,236,760 
High grade 240,661 56,769 - 297,431 
Standard grade 24,977 53,121 - 78,097 
Sub-standard grade - 33,760 - 33,760 
Past due (less than 90 days) - - - - 
Non-performing individually impaired - - 3,939 3,939 
     
Gross carrying amounts as at 31 December 2020 1,502,398 143,650 3,939 1,649,987 
 
 
Off Balance Sheet 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 

 
    

Internal rating grade     
Performing 14,861 - - 14,861 
High grade 195,652 40,054 - 235,707 
Standard grade - 1,855 - 1,855 
Sub-standard grade - 822 - 822 
Past due (less than 90 days) - - - - 
Non-performing individually impaired - - - - 
     
Gross carrying amounts as at 31 December 2020 210,513 42,732 - 253,245 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
(xiv) Impairment allowance analysis – internal rating grading (continued) 

 
 
On Balance Sheet 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 

 
    

Internal rating grade     
Performing 1,163,909 - - 1,163,909 
High grade 156,065 - - 156,065 
Standard grade 109,896 - - 109,896 
Sub-standard grade - 22,325 - 22,325 
Past due (less than 90 days) - - 1,777 1,777 
Non-performing individually impaired - - - -    
     
Gross carrying amounts as at 31 December 2019 1,429,870 22,325 1,777 1,453,972 
 
 
Off Balance Sheet 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 

 
    

Internal rating grade     
Performing 72,276 -    -    72,276 
High grade 166,349 - -    166,349 
Standard grade 1,422 434   -    1,856 
Sub-standard grade -    -    -    -    
Past due (less than 90 days) -    -    -    -    
Non-performing individually impaired -    -    -    -    
     
Gross carrying amounts as at 31 December 2019 240,046 434 -    240,480 

     

    
 
 

     
 
 



Bank of China (UK) Limited 
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020  

75 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
(xiv) Impairment allowance analysis – internal rating grading (continued) 

The following provides an analysis of the ECL split by the internal rating grade.  

 

 
 
On Balance Sheet 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 

 
    

Internal rating grade     
Performing 950 - - 950 
High grade 284 544 - 828 
Standard grade 73 2,181 - 2,254 
Sub-standard grade - 50 - 50 
Past due (less than 90 days) - - - - 
Non-performing individually impaired - - 81 81 
     
ECL allowance as at 31 December 2020 1,307 2,775 81 4,163 
 
 
Off Balance Sheet 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 

 
    

Internal rating grade     
Performing 45 - - 45 
High grade 157 90 - 247 
Standard grade - 14 - 14 
Sub-standard grade - 4 - 4 
Past due (less than 90 days) - - - - 
Non-performing individually impaired - - - - 
     
ECL allowance as at 31 December 2020 202 108 - 310 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
(xiv) Impairment allowance analysis – internal rating grading (continued) 

 
 
 
On Balance Sheet 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 

 
    

Internal rating grade     
Performing 648 - - 648 
High grade 71 - - 71 
Standard grade 379 - - 379 
Sub-standard grade - 78 - 78 
Past due (less than 90 days) - - 32 32 
Non-performing individually impaired - - - -    
     
ECL allowance as at 31 December 2019 1,098 78 32 1,208 
 
 
Off Balance Sheet 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 

 
    

Internal rating grade     
Performing 37 -    -    37 
High grade 59 - -    59 
Standard grade 4 2   -    6 
Sub-standard grade -    -    -    -    
Past due (less than 90 days) -    -    -    -    
Non-performing individually impaired -    -    -    -    
     
ECL allowance as at 31 December 2019 100 2 -    102 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
(xv) Impairment allowance analysis – base case vs. probability weighted 

When estimating the ECLs, the bank considers four scenarios (a base case, an upside, a mild downside (‘downside 1’) and a more extreme 
downside (‘downside 2’)). Each of these is associated with different PDs, EADs and LGDs. When relevant, the assessment of multiple scenarios 
also incorporates how defaulted loans are expected to be recovered, including the probability that the loans will cure and the value of collateral 
or the amount that might be received for selling the asset. 

The following provides an analysis of the ECL if just a base case scenario was used.  

 

On Balance Sheet  
Base case Probability 

weighted Difference 

  £000 £000 £000 
ECL allowance as at 31 December 2020  3,945 4,163 218 

ECL allowance as at 31 December 2019   1,102 1,208 106 

     

 
    

     

Off Balance Sheet  
Base case Probability 

weighted Difference 

  £000 £000 £000 
ECL allowance as at 31 December 2020  298 310 12 

ECL allowance as at 31 December 2019   103 102 (1) 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
6.  Financial risk management (continued) 

(xvi) Analysis of inputs to the ECL model under multiple economic scenarios per geographic regions 

An overview of the approach to estimating ECLs is set out in Note 3. To ensure completeness and accuracy, 
the bank obtains the data used from third party sources (Moody’s) and the Risk Management Department 
verifies the accuracy of inputs to the bank’s ECL models including determining the weights attributable to the 
multiple scenarios. The purpose of using multiple scenarios is to model the non-linear impact of assumptions 
about macroeconomic factors on ECL and that any presented ECL outcomes for different economic scenarios 
do not represent ECL forecasts.  
 
The following tables set out the key drivers of expected loss and multiple economic scenarios and their assigned 
probabilities, as at 31 December 2020. The probabilities assigned are based on the midpoint probability weights 
approach recommended in the Scenario Severity and Probability Weights methodology issued by Moody’s 
Analytics dated October 2017. This approach is used as it is more conservative than other approaches available, 
consistent with the bank’s risk profile. Estimating ECL involves forecasting future economic conditions over a 
number of years. These longer term forecasts are subject to management judgement and those judgements 
may be sources of measurement uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to 
a carrying amount within the next financial year. 
 

1 January 2020 
 

Key Drivers ECL Scenario Assigned Probabilities % 
 

CPI  
GDP Growth 
House Price Index 
Interest Rates  
Unemployment rates 

Upside 30 

Base case 40 

Downside 30 

 
31 December 2020* 

 
Key Drivers ECL 

Scenario 
Assigned 

Probabilities 
% 

2020 
 

% 

2021 
 

% 

2022 
 

% 

2023 
 

% 

2024 
 

% 

Subsequent 
Years 

% 

UK CPI 
Increase 
 

Upside 30 0.16 0.66 1.02 0.87 0.69 0.56 
Base 
case 

40 0.16 0.65 0.77 0.60 0.53 0.50 

Downside 30 0.16 (0.04) 0.23 0.44 0.39 0.34 

UK GDP 
Growth 

Upside 30 (1.58) 1.30 0.92 0.56 0.18 0.25 
Base 
case 40 (1.58) 1.93 1.09 0.56 0.20 0.29 

Downside 30 (1.58) 2.64 1.27 0.57 0.22 0.34 

UK House 
Price Index 
Increase 

Upside 30 (0.16) (0.65) 1.79 2.07 1.25 0.69 
Base 
case 40 (0.16) (1.57) 1.03 1.93 1.40 0.82 

Downside 30 (0.16) (3.97) 0.18 1.87 1.99 1.74 

UK Interest 
Rates 

Upside 30 0.08 0.25 0.58 1.20 1.64 2.03 
Base 
case 40 0.08 0.22 0.47 0.74 1.20 1.68 

Downside 30 0.08 0.27 0.26 0.23 0.20 0.20 

UK  
Unemployment 
Rates 

Upside 30 5.63 7.29 6.38 5.63 5.41 5.32 
Base 
case 40 5.63 8.22 7.49 6.56 6.08 5.93 

Downside 30 5.63 10.05 10.05 8.98 8.14 7.50 
*For conciseness only UK data has been shown since it makes up the majority of the bank’s corporate retail 
lending book.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
6.  Financial risk management (continued) 

(b) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the bank will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  
The bank is exposed to the risk that it will be unable to meet its obligations as they fall due, arising from the 
differing maturity profiles of its assets and liabilities. To mitigate its exposure, the bank places limits on the 
mismatch of maturity dates and by holding a stock of liquid assets which could be sold at short notice if the need 
arose. 
The Board is the ultimate decision-making body and is responsible for compliance with the regulatory 
requirements. Formulation of the risk management procedures, implementation mechanism and monitoring of 
compliance is the main responsibility of the ALCO. Daily management of liquidity is carried out by the Treasury 
department. Financial Management Department monitor the liquidity risk and provide regular reports to 
management and the Prudential Regulation Authority (the “PRA”). 

The following are the contractual (undiscounted) maturities of financial liabilities, including the next expected 
interest payments and excluding the effect of any netting agreements if they were in place:  
   

     
  

   Carrying  Contractual  Less than  1 to 3 3 months  1 to 5    More than  
£000   amount  cash flows 1 month months to 1 year years 5 years 
          
31 December 2020         
Non-derivative financial liabilities:        
Deposits from banks  219,378 (219,626) (52,913) (60,075) (33,386) (73,252) - 
Deposits from customers 1,215,647 (1,216,709) (1,088,749) (36,836) (91,124) - - 
Subordinated liabilities 60,000 (60,048) - (48) - - (60,000) 
Lease liabilities 5,051 (5,122) (316) (51) (463) (1,906) (2,386) 
Derivative financial instruments: 56,924 - - - - -  
Cash outflows   (105,394) (57,716) (832) (3,543) (25,827) (17,476) 
Cash inflows   58,953 58,953 - - - - 

   1,557,000 (1,547,946) (1,140,741) (97,842) (128,516) (100,985) (79,862) 
   

       Undrawn loan    
commitments  

172,250 (172,250) (172,250) - - - - 

   1,728,588 (1,720,196) (1,312,991) (97,842) (128,516) (100,985) (79,862) 

          
31 December 2019         
Non-derivative financial liabilities:        
Deposits from banks  128,590 (129,732) (21,265) (12,814) (76,730) (18,923) - 
Deposits from customers 1,132,193 (1,134,167) (976,877) (78,747) (78,543) - - 
Subordinated liabilities 60,000 (60,163) - (163) - - (60,000) 
Lease liabilities 7,167 (6,699) (350) (123) (1,201) (2,348) (2,677) 
Derivative financial instruments: 8,771  -  -   -   -  - 
Cash outflows  - (90,502) (58,716) (699) (2,873) (14,918) (13,296) 
Cash inflows  - 58,025 58,025 - - - - 

   1,335,562 (1,363,238) (998,183) (92,546) (159,347) (36,189) (75,973)          
 Undrawn loan    

commitments  
195,014 (195,014) (195,014) - - - - 

   1,530,576 (1,558,252) (1,194,197) (92,546) (159,347) (36,189) (75,973) 

The previous table shows the undiscounted cash flows on the bank’s financial liabilities and unrecognised loan 
commitments on the basis of their earliest possible contractual maturity. The bank’s expected cash flows on 
these instruments vary significantly from this analysis and hence this table shows a worst case scenario. For 
example, current accounts and demand deposits from customers are expected to maintain a stable or increasing 
balance and unrecognised loan commitments are not all expected to be drawn down immediately but to be 
drawn over a period of time. The 2019 table has been restated to include the carrying amount and undiscounted 
cash flows by contractual maturity for lease liabilities which had previously been excluded.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
6.  Financial risk management (continued) 

(b) Liquidity risk (continued) 

The contractual cash flows disclosed in the previous table represent the contractual undiscounted cash flows 
relating to the principal and interest on the financial liability or commitment. The disclosure for derivatives shows 
a net amount for derivatives that are settled on a net basis, (e.g. interest rate swaps) but on a gross outflow and 
inflow basis for derivatives that have simultaneous gross settlement (e.g. forward foreign exchange contracts 
and currency swaps). The subordinated loan is repayable upon giving 5 years and one day’s notice. As at the 
date of signing the financial statements notice had not been given, therefore making the subordinated loan 
undated making expected interest payments beyond one year indeterminable. 

The bank has the benefit of a committed short-term loan facility granted by its parent company. The facility is 
repayable at call and £nil were drawn at 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: £nil).   

The table below shows an analysis of assets and liabilities analysed according to when they are expected to be 
recovered or settled:  
      
   Within 12  After 12   

 

£000   months  months Total 
      
31 December 2020     
Assets    
Cash on hand  1,804 - 1,804 
Cash balances with the central bank 359,016 1,098 360,114 
Other demand deposits 119,460 - 119,460 
Loans and advances to banks 110,446 - 110,446 
Loans and advances to customers  52,381 1,086,202 1,138,583 
Derivatives and other financial instruments   48,163 - 48,163 

Prepayments, accrued income and other assets  64,761 14,008 78,769 

Debt instruments at amortised cost  - - - 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss  34,098 43,385 77,483 

Deferred tax asset   388 839 1,227 
Property, plant and equipment  - 4,527 4,527 
Intangible assets  - 529 529 

Total assets   790,517 1,150,588 1,941,105 

      
Liabilities     
Deposits from banks 146,125 73,252 219,377 
Deposits from customers  1,215,647 - 1,215,647 
Derivatives and other financial instruments  56,924 - 56,924 
Other liabilities 31,849 4,140 35,989 
Accruals and deferred income 5,705 - 5,705 
Current tax liabilities  4,637 - 4,637 
Provisions   142 168 310 
Subordinated liabilities  - 60,000 60,000 

Total liabilities   1,461,029 137,560 1,598,589 

Net   (670,512) 1,013,028 342,516 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
6.  Financial risk management (continued) 

(b) Liquidity risk (continued) 
      
   Within 12  After 12   

 

£000   months  months Total 
      
31 December 2019     
Assets    
Cash on hand  2,002 - 2,002 
Cash balances with the central bank 249,787 1,468 251,255 
Other demand deposits 79,285 - 79,285 
Loans and advances to banks 62,639 22,608 85,247 
Loans and advances to customers  41,006 1,023,341 1,064,347 
Derivatives and other financial instruments   4,614 - 4,614 
Prepayments, accrued income and other assets  41,283 17,122 58,405 
Debt instruments at amortised cost  50,431 - 50,431 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss  2,584 81,344 83,928 

Deferred tax asset   182 605 787 
Property, plant and equipment  - 6,328 6,328 
Intangible assets  - 759 759 

Total assets   533,813 1,153,575 1,687,388 

      
Liabilities     
Deposits from banks 109,667 18,923 128,590 
Deposits from customers  1,132,193 - 1,132,193 
Derivatives and other financial instruments  8,771 - 8,771 
Other liabilities 38,337 5,345 43,609 
Accruals and deferred income 6,390 - 6,390 
Current tax liabilities  675 - 675 
Provisions   8 94 102 
Subordinated liabilities  - 60,000 60,000 

Total liabilities   1,295,968 84,362 1,380,330 

Net   (762,155) 1,069,213 307,058 
 
(c) Market risk 

Foreign exchange risk  

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that movements in the various currencies could materially impact the Financial 
Statements. To manage its exposure to foreign exchange risk the bank enters into derivative transactions . 

The following table shows the foreign exchange positions as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
6.  Financial risk management (continued)  

(c) Market risk (continued) 

Foreign exchange risk (continued) 

£000 
       

 

31 December 2020   Sterling US Dollar Euro Other Total 
Cash and cash equivalents  426,562 29,620 15,718 9,479 481,379 
Loans and advances to banks  (30) 57,137 44,910 8,429 110,446 
Loans and advances to customers 995,518 129,802 11,066 2,197 1,138,583 
Derivatives financial instruments (asset)    48,160 3 - - 48,163 
Debt instruments at amortised cost - - - - - 
Financial assets at fair value 
through profit and loss               

5,246 72,236 - - 77,482 

Other assets   48,680 35,104 1,270 (2) 85,052 
Deposits from banks   (75,794) (142,800) (680) (104) (219,378) 
Deposits from customers   (892,491) (232,095) (73,121) (17,940) (1,215,647) 
Derivatives financial instruments (liability) (56,924) - - - (56,924) 
Other liabilities   (41,078) (3,319) (2,406) (189) (46,992) 
Subordinated liabilities  (60,000) - - - (60,000) 
Total shareholder equity  (342,164) - - - (342,164) 

         
Net financial assets/(liabilities)  55,685 (54,312) (3,243) 1,870 - 
Net forward foreign exchange positions   (6,779) 16,135 (11,385) 2,028 - 
Undrawn loan commitments   57,122 115,128 - - 172,250 

        
£000 

       
 

31 December 2019   Sterling US Dollar Euro Other Total 
Cash and cash equivalents  296,756 22,851 4,769 8,165 332,541 
Loans and advances to banks  (99) 37,846 33,111 14,389 85,247 
Loans and advances to customers 916,457 124,591 10,582 12,717 1,064,347 
Derivatives financial instruments (asset)    4,611 3 - - 4,614 
Debt instruments at amortised cost 50,431 - - - 50,431 
Financial assets at fair value 
through profit and loss               

2,584 81,343 - - 83,927 

Other assets   64,049 661 1,493 77 66,281 
Deposits from banks   (1,328) (109,988) (566) (16,708) (128,590) 
Deposits from customers   (854,718) (210,333) (49,326) (17,815) (1,132,192) 
Derivatives financial instruments (liability) (8,771) - - - (8,771) 
Other liabilities   (36,695) (5,944) (7,641) (497) (50,777) 
Subordinated liabilities  (60,000) - - - (60,000) 
Total shareholder equity  (307,058) - - - (307,058) 

         
Net financial assets/(liabilities)  66,219 (58,970) (7,577) 328 - 
Net forward foreign exchange positions   (21,827) 25,784 (4,458) 501 - 
Undrawn loan commitments   75,552 73,951 38,205 7,306 195,014 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
6.        Financial risk management (continued) 

(c) Market risk (continued) 

Foreign exchange risk (continued) 

Sensitivity analysis 
A 1% percent weakening of the following currencies against Sterling at 31 December 2020 would have 
increased (decreased) equity and the income statement by the amounts shown below. This calculation 
assumes that the change occurred at the reporting date and had been applied to risk exposures existing at that 
date. 
 

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular other exchange rates and interest rates, remain 
constant. 

 

    Other Comprehensive Income  Income statement 

£000       
31 December  

2020 

 
31 December  

2019 

 
31 December 

2020 

 
31 December 

2019 
US Dollars    -  -  65  (30) 
Euro    -  -  63  38 
Other    -  -  (2)  (4) 
 

A 1% percent strengthening of the above currencies against Sterling at 31 December 2020 would have had the 
equal but opposite effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other 
variables remain constant. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
6.  Financial risk management (continued) 

(c) Market risk (continued) 

Exposure to interest rate risk  

The bank does not operate a trading book. 

The principal exposure is the risk of loss from fluctuations in the future cash flows or fair values of financial 
instruments because of a change in market interest rates. Interest rate risk is managed principally through 
monitoring the cumulative interest rate gap position and by having pre-approved limits for the time bands. The 
ALCO is the monitoring body for compliance with these limits and is assisted by the Financial Management 
Department in its day-to-day monitoring activities. A summary of the bank’s interest rate gap position is as follows: 

    Less     Non 
   Carrying than 1 1-3 3 months 1-5 Over 5 Interest 
£000   Amount month months to 1 year years years Bearing 
31 December 2020         
Assets          
Cash and cash equivalents 481,378 474,814 - - - 1,098 5,466 
Loans and advances to banks 110,446 26,946 83,500 - - - - 
Loans and advances to customers 1,138,583 62,330 999,305 4,403 52,082 20,463 - 
Derivative financial instruments 48,163 - - - -  48,163 
Debt instruments at amortised cost - - - - -  - 
Financial assets at fair value 
through profit and loss              

77,482 - - 19 28,679 48,765 19 

Other assets  85,053 - - - - - 85,053 
          
Total assets  1,941,105 564,090 1,082,805 4,422 80,761 70,326 138,701 

          
Equity and liabilities  

       

Liabilities   1,598,589 1,232,251 171,580 90,470 - - 104,288 
Deposits from banks  219,378 143,701 75,000 - - - 677 
Deposits from customers 1,215,647 1,088,550 36,580 90,470 - - 47 
Derivative financial instruments 56,924 - - - - - 56,924 
Other liabilities  46,640 - - - - - 46,640 
Subordinated liabilities 60,000 - 60,000 - - -  
Equity          

Shareholders' equity  342,516 - - - - - 342,516 
          
Total equity and liabilities 1,941,105 1,232,251 171,580 90,470 - - 446,804 

        
Interest rate sensitivity gap  (668,161) 911,225 (86,048) 80,761 70,326 (308,103) 

Cumulative gap  (668,161) 243,064 157,016 237,777 308,103 - 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
6.  Financial risk management (continued) 

(c) Market risk (continued) 

Exposure to interest rate risk (continued) 
 

    Less     Non 
   Carrying than 1 1-3 3 months 1-5 Over 5 Interest 
£000   Amount month months to 1 year years years Bearing 
31 December 2019         
Assets          
Cash and cash equivalents 332,542 329,026 - - - 1,468 2,048 
Loans and advances to banks 85,247 62,638 22,708 - - - (99) 
Loans and advances to customers 1,064,347 75,803 894,082 10,613 58,059 26,898 (1,108) 
Derivative financial instruments 4,614 - - - - - 4,614 
Debt instruments at amortised cost 50,431 - 50,431 - - - - 
Financial assets at fair value 
through profit and loss              

83,928 - - - 33,400 50,511 17 

Other assets  66,279 - - - - - 66,279 
          
Total assets  1,687,388 467,467 967,221 10,613 91,459 78,877 71,751 

          

Equity and liabilities  
       

Liabilities   1,380,330 997,464 150,967 153,241 18,923 - 59,735 
Deposits from banks  128,590 21,169 12,785 75,692 18,923 - 21 
Deposits from customers 1,132,193 976,295 78,182 77,549 - - 166 
Derivative financial instruments 8,771 - - - - - 8,771 
Other liabilities  50,776 - - - - - 50,777 
Subordinated liabilities 60,000 - 60,000  - - - - 
Equity          

Shareholders' equity  307,058 - - - - - 307,058 
          
Total equity and liabilities 1,687,388 997,464 150,967 153,241 18,923 - 366,793 

        
Interest rate sensitivity gap  (529,997) 816,254 (142,628) 72,536 78,877 (297,042) 

Cumulative gap  (529,997) 286,257 143,629 216,165 295,042 - 

The table below indicates the impact on the income statement for possible change in interest rates, with all other 
variables held constant. 

At the reporting date the sensitivity to interest rate risk was projected to be:  
 

       100bps parallel   100bps parallel  
£000       Increase  Decrease 
Sensitivity of projected net interest income at      
31 December 2020      2,398  (2,398) 
31 December 2019      1,913  (1,913) 

Sensitivity of reported equity to interest rate movements at     
31 December 2020      2,398  (2,398) 
31 December 2019      1,913  (1,913) 
 

Interest rate movements affect reported equity in the following ways: retained earnings; arising from increases or 
decreases in net interest income and the fair value changes reported in profit or loss. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
6.  Financial risk management (continued) 

(d) Capital management 

Regulatory capital 

Reference is made below to the Prudential Regulation Authority (“PRA”) which along with the Financial Conduct 
Authority (“FCA”) are the bank’s regulators. 

The PRA sets capital requirements for the bank in line with international supervisory standards and guidelines 
known as Basel III which are contained within legislation passed by the EU, i.e. CRD IV Regulation and 
Directives. The parent company is directly supervised by their local regulators. 

In calculating capital requirements, the bank has adopted the standardised approach for credit risk and the basic 
indicator approach for operational risk. As the bank does not have a trading book, the capital requirement for 
the foreign exchange risk inherent in the banking book has been captured as market risk, which is also calculated 
on the standardised approach. 

The bank’s regulatory capital resources comprise tier 1 and tier 2 capital as set out in the table below. 

Banking operations are categorised as banking book and risk-weighted assets are determined according to 
specified requirements that seek to reflect the varying levels of risk attached to assets and off-balance sheet 
exposures.  

The bank’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence 
and to sustain future development of the business. The impact of the level of capital on shareholders’ return is 
also recognised and the bank recognises the need to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might 
be possible with greater gearing and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position. 

The bank has complied with all externally imposed capital requirements throughout the period. 

The bank’s regulatory capital position at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 was as follows: 

£000  2020  
Actual 

2019 
 Actual 

Tier 1 capital    
Ordinary share capital  250,000 250,000 
Retained earnings *  25,164 57,058 

    

Tier 2 capital    
Qualifying subordinated liabilities  60,000 60,000 
    
Total regulatory capital  335,164 367,058 

* Retained earnings are eligible for inclusion as regulatory Tier 1 capital once audited. Similarly, dividends are 
deducted from regulatory capital once declared. Therefore, as both events occur after the balance sheet date 
regulatory capital at the reporting dates will differ to the amounts disclosed in the above table. 

The bank maintains a buffer to regulatory minimum capital ratios.  

The PRA also sets total capital requirements (“TCR”) for the bank as part of its Supervisory Review and 
Evaluation Process. The agreed TCR was in force and respected as at the reporting date and remains 
confidential between each bank and the PRA in accordance with PRA requirements.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
7.            Financial assets and financial liabilities 

Fair values of financial instruments  

The bank’s valuation methodology is detailed in Note 3. 

Fair values 

The carrying value of  financial assets and liabilities at amortised cost materially approximates to their fair value. 
The interest rates on these financial assets and liabilities re-price on a regular and short-term basis resulting in 
the fair value calculation being not materially different from the carrying value. 
The table below analyses financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value, by valuation method: 

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); 

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

The carrying value of short-term receivables and payables are assumed to approximate to their fair values where 
discounting is not material.  

Loans to customers designated at fair value are valued by calculating the net present value of their discounted 
cash flows.  

For derivative financial instruments not traded in an active market for which no quoted market price is available 
the fair value is determined using valuation techniques. Forward currency exchange contracts fair value was 
determined using quoted forward exchange rates matching the maturities of the contracts. While for interest rate 
swaps fair value was determined using discounted cash flow analysis at quoted interest rates. 

The fair value of other financial assets and borrowings has been calculated by discounting the expected future 
cash flows at prevailing market interest rates for instruments with substantially the same terms and            
characteristics. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
7.          Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

Fair value hierarchy 

During the financial year ended 31 December 2020, financial assets at fair value were assessed under IFRS 9 
criteria for Level 1, Level 2 or Level 3.  

 

£000         
31 December 2020    Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Financial assets      77,463 77,463 
Designated fair value loans   - - 77,463 77,463 
Derivative financial instruments:      
Interest rate swaps    - 48,163 - 48,163 
  

   - 48,163 - 48,163 
Financial investments:      
Convertible preference shares   - - 19 19 
  

   -  19 19 
Total assets    - 48,163 77,482 125,645 
Financial liabilities        
Derivative financial instruments:       
Cross currency swaps and FX 
forwards   

- 56,924 - 56,924 

Total liabilities    - 56,924 - 56,924 
 
 
 

In accordance with IFRS 13, Level 3 assets includes convertible preference shares in Visa Inc. based on a proxy 
of Visa Inc.’s quoted share price and the fair value gain or loss in loans designated at fair value during the year 
(refer to Note 10).    
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
7. Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

Fair value hierarchy (continued) 

 
         
31 December 2019    Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Financial assets        
Designated fair value loans   - - 83,911 83,911 

Derivative financial instruments:      

Interest rate swaps    - 4,614 - 4,614 
  

   - 4,614 - 4,614 

Financial investments:      
Convertible preference shares   - - 17 17 
  

   - - 17 17 
Total assets    - 4,614 83,928 88,542 

Financial liabilities        
Derivative financial instruments:       
Cross currency swaps and FX 
forwards   

- 8,771 - 8,771 

Total liabilities    - 8,771 - 8,771          
 
Reconciliation of Level 3 financial assets 

 

£000  31 December 31 December 
  2020 2019 

Balance at 1 January 
 

83,928 76,171 

Issues of loans to new counterparties 
 

3,663 17,031 

Repayment of loans 
 

(10,148) (12,282) 

Total gain for the period net of exchange differences 
recognised in the profit and loss 

 2,661 3,008 

Exchange G/L recognised in the profit and loss 
 

(2,622) - 
Balance at 31 December   77,482 83,928 

 

Designated fair value loans are valued using discounted cash flows, any changes in the discount rate would not 
have a material impact on the fair value of the loans. At the end of 2020, unrealised Gain and Losses of Level 
3 Assets is £5.2m (2019: £2.6m). 

Sensitivity test of Level 3 financial assets 

The sensitivity analysis of the fair value loans made on aircraft shows that an increase of 0.5% in interest rates 
would decrease the fair value by £1,318,351. The sensitivity analysis also shows that an increase in credit risk 
of 50% would decrease the fair value by £707,240. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
8. Net interest income 

 31 December 31 December 
£000 2020 2019  

 
 

Interest income from financial investments 13 93 
Interest income from loans and advances:  

 

Cash and cash equivalents 675 987 
Loans and advances to banks 701 2,009 
Loans and advances to customers 38,938 42,604 
Total interests form loans and advances 40,314 45,600 

Total interest income 40,327 45,693  
 

 

Interest expense:  
 

Deposits from banks 2,433 3,701 
Customers accounts 3,380 4,939 
Subordinated liabilities 463 673 
Total interest expense (6,276) (9,313) 

Net interest income 34,051 36,380 

Interest income presented above represents interest revenue calculated using the effective interest method. 

9. Net fee and commission income 

(a) Analysis by business area 

 31 December 31 December 
£000 2020 2019    
Retail Banking customer fees 1,578 1,939 
Corporate Banking credit-related fees 1,964 2,381 
Other 85 354 
Gross fee and commission income 3,627 4,674  

 
 

Interbank transaction fees (386) (419) 
Other (1,163) (751) 
Gross fee and commission expense (1,549) (1,170) 

Net fee and commission income 2,078 3,504 

(b) Analysis of gross fee and commission income by product 

 31 December 31 December 
£000 2020 2019    
Letter of guarantee 298 224 
Remittance  339 417 
Account and service fees 170 246 
Letter of credit 11 45 
Settlement & commitment 207 390 
Credit and debit cards 312 658 
Other 61 105 
Fee and commission income in scope of IFRS 15 1,398 2,085 
Syndicated loans  1,004 1,358 
Structural financing  222 310 
Retail loans 1,002 921 
Fee and commission income in scope of IFRS 9 2,228 2,589 
Gross fee and commission income 3,626 4,674 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
10. Net fair value loss on financial instruments  

 31 December 31 December 
£000 2020 2019 
 
Net fair value loss on financial instruments: 

 
 

Designated fair value loans  2,659 3,003 
Interest rate swaps - 3 
Convertible preference shares 2 5 
Cross currency swaps and FX forwards (5,812) (4,176)  

(3,151) (1,165) 
 

11.       Other operating income 

 31 December 31 December 
£000 2020 2019 

Related party service charges 85,026 70,889 
Dividends from subsidiaries - - 
Other 610 862 
  85,636 71,751 

The related party service charges represent the net amount receivable by the bank for the following services 
provided and received under service level agreements with related parties as disclosed in Note 32: 

x Income earned by Bank of China Limited, London Branch (the “London Branch”) beyond return on capital, 
repatriated to the bank; 

x Expenses incurred directly by the bank that are recharged to the London Branch for services provided; 
x The movement from 2019 has been driven by an increase in the capital charge, removal of credit guarantee 

fee and increase in the cost base and allocation of support service charges.   

12. Staff costs  

 31 December 31 December 
£000 2020 2019 

Wages and salaries 38,483 37,698 
Contributions to defined contribution plans 2,472 2,076 
Social security costs 5,010 5,395 
Other 1,642 2,110 
  47,607 47,279 

 31 December 31 December 
Average number of employees 2020 2019 

Retail Banking 137 135 
Corporate Banking  124 113 
Support Functions 270 246 
Total average number of employees 531 494 
   

Other staff costs include staff training expenditure and staff benefits costs.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
13. Other expenses 

 31 December 31 December 
£000 2020 2019 

Administrative 17,413 16,789 
Rent on operating leases (23) (15) 
Software licensing and other IT costs 175 753 
Other 1,251 5,521 
  18,816 23,048 

 

The movement in other expenses is driven by provisions for claims in respect of the Bank of China (Suisse) SA 
sale agreement £4,245,000 in 2019. Administrative expenses include expenses relating to short-term and low-
value asset leases of £95,000 (2019: £51,000).  

 

Auditor’s remuneration: 

 31 December  31 December  
£000 2020 2019 
 

Fees payable to the bank’s auditors for the audit of 
the company’s financial statements:   
Current year 390 293 
Prior year 98 - 
Fees payable to the bank’s auditor and its  
associates for other services:   

The audits of the company’s subsidiaries, 
pursuant to legislation 58 25 
Other assurance services 21 31 

 

14. Directors’ remuneration 

 31 December 31 December 
£000 2020 2019 

Remuneration of directors in respect of services rendered:  
 

Remuneration 924 855 
Pension contributions 10 5 

Highest paid director:   

Remuneration 290 228 

15. Income tax expense 

  31 December 31 December 
£000  2020 2019 

Current tax expense 
   

Current period 
 

12,977 11,844 
Adjustments for prior years 

 
208 (2,772) 

Total current tax 
 

13,185 9,072   
 

 

Deferred tax expense 
 

 
 

Origination and reversal of temporary differences 
 

(322) 100 
Adjustments for prior years 

 
(118) 658 

Total deferred tax 
 

(440) 758   
  

Total income tax expense in income statement 
 

12,745 9,830 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
15. Income tax expense (continued) 

The tax on the bank’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted 
average tax rate applicable to profits of the bank as follows: 

Reconciliation of effective tax rate    
31 December 31 December 

£000 2020 2019 
Profit before income tax 47,910 41,935  

 
 

Income tax using the standard rate of corporation tax in the 
UK % (2019: 27.00%) 

12,936 11,322 

Non-deductible expenses 1,790 2,626 
Allowance against banking tax surcharge (2,000) (2,000) 
(Over) under provided in prior years 90 (2,113) 
Other - tax rate adjustment (72) (8) 
Other 1 3 
Total income tax expense in the income statement 12,745 9,830 
 

 
Income tax recognised in other comprehensive income 

 

 
31 December 31 December 

£000 2020 2019 

Current tax  
 

UK current tax expense - - 

Total current tax - - 

Deferred tax  
 

Current year deferred tax charge (credit) - - 

Total deferred tax - - 
 

  
Total income and deferred tax credit  
 in other comprehensive income - - 

The UK Government has announced an increase in the rate of corporation tax to 25% from April 2023 along with 
a review of the rate of corporation tax surcharge on banking companies. 

Deferred tax has been calculated at 27% using the aggregate of the enacted corporation tax rate of 19% and 
corporation tax surcharge on banking companies of 8%. 

 

16. Cash and cash equivalents 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
31 December 31 December 

£000 2020 2019 

Cash on hand 1,804 2,002 
Cash balances with the central bank 360,115 251,255 
Other demand deposits 119,460 79,285  

481,379 332,542 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
17. Derivative financial instruments 

The bank holds derivative instruments for risk management and cross currency funding purposes. During 2019, 
the bank started acting as a clearing member of the London Clearing House, which has resulted in an increase 
in the derivatives on book.    

      31 December 
     2020 

      31 December 
       2019 £000  

Assets  Liabilities    Assets  Liabilities 
Instrument type: 

    

Interest rate swaps 48,163 - 4,614 - 
Cross currency swaps and FX forwards - 56,924 - 8,771 

 48,163 56,924 4,614 8,771 

The bank did not designate any derivative financial instruments for hedging purposes during either period 
presented.  

18. Loans and advances to banks 

£000 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
Loans and advances to banks 110,476 85,346 

Impairments - collective (30) (99) 

 110,446 85,247 

  

19. Loans and advances to customers 

 31 December 31 December 
£000 2020 2019 

Corporate loans and advances 228,625 237,385 
Retail loans and advances 914,099 828,071 
Gross loans and advances 1,142,724 1,065,456  

 
 

     Less: specific allowance for impairments – Stage 3           (81) (32) 
               collective allowance for impairments – Stages 1 & 2           (4,060) (1,077) 
Total allowance for impairment                                 (4,141) (1,109) 

Loans and advances to customer net 1,138,583 1,064,347 

 

Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost 
£000   31 December 2020  31 December 2019 

 
Gross 

amount 
Impairment 

allowance 
Carrying 
amount 

Gross 
amount 

Impairment 
allowance  

Carrying 
amount 

Corporate loans and advances 228,623 (3,527) 225,096 237,385 (492) 236,893 
Retail loans and advances 914,099 (614) 913,485 828,071 (617) 827,454 

 1,142,722 (4,141) 1,138,581 1,065,456 (1,109) 1,064,347 
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20. Allowances for impairment 

Impairment (charges) / release  

£000  
 31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2019 
Loans and advances to customers    (3,047) (283) 
Loans and advances to banks    69     (99) 
Debt instruments at amortised cost    - 7 
Off balance sheet  (207)   (5) 
Foreign exchange movement  13 3 
Total impairment charge in income statement  (3,172) (377) 

Refer to Note 6 for the movement in the impairment charge for the year ended 31 December 2020 for on and 
off balance sheet products. 
21. Financial investments 

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 

 Note 31 December 31 December 
£000  2020 2019 

Loans designated at fair value 
 

77,463 83,911 
Convertible preference shares 

 
19 17 

   77,482 83,928 

Included in financial assets at fair value through profit and loss is a portfolio of fixed rate corporate loans. The 
hedges do not meet the criteria for hedge accounting and the loans are recorded at fair value to avoid an 
accounting mismatch. 

The bank holds £19,000 preference shares in Visa Inc. (31 December 2019: £17,000) which are expected to be 
recovered more than twelve months after the reporting date.  

 

(b) Debt instruments at amortised cost 

 Note 31 December 31 December 
£000  2020 2019 

Debt securities 
 

- 50,431 
   - 50,431 

The UK Government debt security held at 31 December 2019 matured in July 2020. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
22. Property, plant and equipment 

(a) Fixed assets 

£000 

Property, 
plant  

and fixtures 

Furniture 
and  

equipment 
Computer  
equipment 

Motor  
vehicles Total 

Cost 
     

Balance at 1 January 2020 6,314 2,155 2,434 260 11,163 
Additions - 38 481 - 519 
Transfers - - - - - 
Disposals - (22) (52)  (74) 
Foreign exchange movement 20 6 8 - 34 
Balance at 31 December 2020 6,334 2,177 2,871 260 11.642 
      
Balance at 1 January 2019 6,260 1,975 1,932 214 10,381 
Additions 57 254 512 46 869 
Transfers - - - - - 
Disposals - (74) (9) - (83) 
Foreign exchange movement (3) - (1) - (4) 
Balance at 31 December 2019 6,314 2,155 2,434 260 11,163 

Depreciation 
     

Balance at 1 January 2020 4,630 1,805 1,776 185 8,396 
Charge for the year 375 167 350 21 913 
Transfers      
Disposals - (2) (16) - (18) 
Foreign exchange movement 6 2 6 - 14 
Balance at 31 December 2020 5,011 1,972 2,116 206 9,305 
 
Balance at 1 January 2019 4,257 1,711 1,490 162 7,620 
Charge for the year 372 171 294 23 860 
Transfers - - - - - 
Disposals - (77) (9) - (86) 
Foreign exchange movement 1 - 1 - 2 
Balance at 31 December 2019 4,630 1,805 1,776 185 8,396 
      
 
Net carrying value at 

     

31 December 2020 1,323 205 755 54 2,337 

31 December 2019 1,684 350 658 75 2,767 
 

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 the bank identified no events or circumstances that would 
indicate that the bank’s tangible fixed assets might be impaired. 
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22. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

(b) Right-of-use assets 

 

£000 

Property, 
plant  

and fixtures 

Furniture 
and  

equipment 
Computer  
equipment 

Motor  
vehicles Total 

Cost 
     

Balance at 1 January 2020 5,188 - - 10 5,198 
Foreign exchange movement 68 - - - 68 
Balance at 31 December 2020 5,256 - - 10 5,266 
      
Balance at 1 January 2019 5,188 - - 10 5,198 
Balance at 31 December 2019 5,188 - - 10 5,198 
      

Depreciation 
     

Balance at 1 January 2020 1,628 - - 10 1,638 

Charge for the year 

Foreign exchange movement 

1,429 

9 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

1,429 

9 

Balance at 31 December 2020 3,066 - - 10 3,076 

      
Balance at 1 January 2019 - - - - - 
Charge for the year 1,628 - - 10 1,638 
Balance at 31 December 2019 1,628 - - 10 1,638 
 
 
Net carrying value at 
 

     

31 December 2020 
31 December 2019 

2,190 
3,560 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

2,190 
3,560 
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23. Intangible assets 

£000 
 

IT Software Total 
Cost 

   

Balance at 1 January 2020 
 

2,739 2,739 
Additions 
Disposals 

 
51 

(26) 
51 

(26) 
Balance at 31 December 2020  2,764 2,764 
    
Balance at 1 January 2019 

 
2,342 2,342 

Additions 
 

397 397 

Balance at 31 December 2019   2,739 2,739 
    

Amortisation  
   

Balance at 1 January 2020 
 

1,979 1,979 
Amortisation for the year  
Disposal 

 
259 
(3) 

259 
(3) 

Balance at 31 December 2020   2,235 2,235 
    
Balance at 1 January 2019 

 
1,879 1,879 

Amortisation for the year  
 

100 100 
Balance at 31 December 2019   1,979 1,979 

Net carrying value at 
   

31 December 2020   529 529 

31 December 2019   759 759 

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 the bank identified no events or circumstances that would 
indicate that the bank’s intangible assets might be impaired. 
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24. Deferred tax assets  

Recognised deferred tax assets  

Deferred tax assets are attributable to the following: 

 31 December 31 December 
£000 2020 2019 

Property and equipment, and software 19 (67) 
Available for sale investments - (5) 
Deferred employees’ benefits 1,120 766 
Other 88 93  

1,227 787 

Deferred tax has been calculated at 27% using the aggregate enacted corporation tax rate of 19% and 
corporation tax surcharge on banking companies of 8%. 

The UK Government has announced an increase in the rate of corporation tax to 25% from April 2023 along 
with a review of the rate of corporation tax surcharge on banking companies.  The effect of the announced 
increase in the main rate of corporation tax with no reduction in corporation tax surcharge on banking companies 
would increase the deferred tax asset by £98,000 to £1,326,000. 

There were no unrecognised deferred tax assets as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019. 
Movements in temporary differences during the year 

 
Opening  
balance Recognised Recognised 

Closing  
balance 

  1 January in income in equity 31 December 
£000 2020   2020      
Property and equipment, and software (67) 86 - 19 
Available for sale investments (5) 5 - - 
Deferred employees’ benefits 766 354 - 1,120 
Other 93 (5)  88 
  787 440  1,227 
     

 
Opening  
balance Recognised Recognised 

Closing  
balance 

  1 January in income in equity 31 December 
£000 2019   2019      
Property and equipment, and software 78 (145) - (67) 
Available for sale investments (8) 3 - (5) 
Deferred employees’ benefits 1,283 (517) - 766 
Other 192 (99) - 93 
  1,545 (758) - 787 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Bank of China (UK) Limited 
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020  

100 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
25. Prepayments, accrued income and other assets 

 31 December 31 December 
£000 2020 2019 

Accrued income 2,331 3,027 
Prepaid expenses 736 282 
Tax receivable 465 988 
Receivable from related party 17,220 29,318 
Other 58,017 24,790  

78,769 58,405 

Transfer pricing receivable from related party of £12,993,000 (31 December 2019: £24,194,000) was 
outstanding at 31 December 2020. Other assets of £55,338,000 (31 December 2019: £19,948,000) deposited 
with LCH.   

 

26. Deposits from banks  
 31 December 31 December 
£000 2020 2019 

From fellow group companies 125,741 31,846 
Other deposits from banks 93,637 96,744 
  219,378 128,590 

 

27. Deposits from customers 
 31 December 31 December 

£000 2020 2019 
Retail customers: 

  

Term deposits 303,556 306,918 
Notice deposits 118,677 108,045 
Current deposits 331,761 323,054 
Other 50 57  

754,044 738,074 
Corporate customers:   
Notice deposits 71,040 104,215 
Current deposits 343,963 287,230 
Other 46,600 2,674  

461,603 394,119 
  1,215,647 1,132,193 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
28.  Subordinated liabilities 

£000 
31 December  

2020 
31 December  

2019 
   
Subordinated note issued 60,000 60,000 

 60,000 60,000 
 

On 20 September 2007 the bank issued a £60,000,000 subordinated loan. Interest is payable on 31 March, 30 
June, 30 September and 31 December at the three-month London Interbank Bank Offered Rate plus 30 basis 
points. The rate applicable to the loan as at the reporting date was 0.33% (31 December 2019: 1.12%). This 
rate will be transitioned to SONIA compounded rate in arrears. The loan is repayable upon giving 5 years and 
one day’s notice.  

The above liabilities will, in the event of the winding-up of the bank, be subordinated to the claims of depositors 
and all other creditors of the bank. 

 

29. Other liabilities  

 31 December 31 December 
£000 2020 2019 

Creditors and accruals 30,474 35,026 
Lease liabilities  5,051 7,167 
Other 561 1,416 
  36,086 43,609 

 

30. Accruals and deferred income 
 

31 December 31 December 
£000 2020 2019    

Deferred income 5,060 4,775 
Accrued interest 645 1,615 
  5,705 6,390 

 

31. Equity 

 (a) Capital 

At 31 December 2020 the authorised share capital comprised 250,000,000 ordinary shares (31 December 2019: 
250,000,000). These instruments have a par value of £1 and are all issued shares and fully paid.  

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to 
one vote per share at meetings of the bank. 

 (b) Dividends  

The directors recommend the payment of a dividend of £67,000,000 for 2020 (2019:Nil). 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
32. Related parties 

(a) Parent and ultimate controlling party 

The immediate parent company of the bank is Bank of China Limited (a company incorporated in the People’s 
Republic of China). The ultimate holding company is China Investment Corporation Limited.  

The largest and smallest group which includes the bank and which prepares publicly available consolidated 
financial statements is the Bank of China Limited. Copies of its consolidated financial statements are publicly 
available from the Head Office of the Bank of China Limited, 1 Fuxingmen Nei Dajie, Beijing 100818, People’s 
Republic of China. 
During the year ended 31 December 2020 there were no transactions which resulted in there being a change in 
the ultimate controlling party of the bank. 

The bank regards the following as being related parties that exercise significant influence: 

- Bank of China Limited (parent); 

- China Investment Corporation Limited (ultimate parent). 

Significant companies of the bank are subsidiaries of the bank, subsidiaries and associated companies of the 
immediate parent company. 

Related party transactions occurred between the bank and the London Branch of Bank of China Limited. At 31 
December 2020 the bank received £125,741,000 (31 December 2019: £31,846,000) which is 8% (31 December 
2019: 2%) of its funding from Bank of China Limited, London Branch in the form of short-term funding. The 
funding is interest-bearing at market rate for the term and currency borrowed, and is repayable in accordance 
with the contractual maturity date of the deposit.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
32. Related parties (continued) 

(a) Parent and ultimate controlling party 

                  Nature of related party 
      Significant Significant 
£000       influence company 
Balance at 31 December 2020      
Cash on hand, cash balances with the central bank 
and other demand deposits    

49,451  

Loans and advances to banks   88,500  
Loans and advances to customers    1 
Derivative financial instrument assets    47,162  
Prepayments, accrued income and other assets  19,805 2,727 
Deposits from banks     125,741  
Deposits from customers     5,868 
Derivative financial instrument liabilities  9,762  
Other liabilities    14,452 397 
Subordinated liabilities    60,000  
Included in the income statement for the period    
Interest receivable     311 71 
Interest payable     (1,220)  
Other operating income    84,941 84 
Net loss on derivative financial instruments   8,382  
        
Balance at 31 December 2019      
Cash on hand, cash balances with the central 
bank and other demand deposits    

34,497 - 

Loans and advances to banks   62,639 - 
Loans and advances to customers   - 2 
Derivative financial instrument assets    4,582 - 
Prepayments, accrued income and other assets  32,824 2,973 
Deposits from banks     31,846 - 
Deposits from customers    - 9,511 
Derivative financial instrument liabilities    4,541 - 
Other liabilities     11,595 468 
Subordinated liabilities    60,000 - 
        
Included in the income statement for the period    
Interest receivable     251 76 
Interest payable     (1,347) - 
Other operating income    70,813 76 
Net gain on derivative financial instruments 

  (4,176) - 

Other assets include related party leases with details disclosed in Note 35. 
(b) Investment in non-consolidated subsidiaries 

     Ownership interest 
   Shareholding Country of  31 December 31 December 
    incorporation 2020 2019 
       
China Bridge Group (UK) Limited 1 ordinary share United Kingdom 100% 100% 

China Bridge Group Italy SRL1 
10,000 ordinary 
shares Italy 100% 100% 

1Indirect holding via China Bridge Group (UK) Limited. The Italian entity has not had its licence renewed to grant 
visas for visitors to China and is in the process of being liquidated.  
 

At 31 December 2020, the bank held an investment of £1 in China Bridge Group (UK) Limited (31 December 
2019: £1). This entity is wholly-owned, with registered office at 1 Lothbury, London, EC2R 7DB. The bank has 
availed itself of the consolidation exemption (refer to Note 2) and therefore does not consolidate this subsidiary.  
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32. Related parties (continued) 
(c) Key management compensation 

Key management is comprised of directors and the members of the Executive Management Committee of the 
bank. The bank does not provide non-cash benefits to any of the key management personnel.  

£000 2020 2019 

Compensation of Key Management Personnel:  
 

Short-term employee benefits 1,471 1,603 
Post-employment benefits 13 11 
Total 1,484 1,614 
   

(d) Transactions with key management 

Transactions with key management for the period ended 31 December 2020 comprised retail mortgages and 
deposits transacted on an arms’ length basis to the amounts of £347,000 and £2,802,000 respectively (31 
December 2019: £365,000 & £2,204,000). 

33. Provisions, contingent liabilities and commitments 

(a) Undrawn loan commitments, guarantees and other financial facilities 
 

31 December 31 December 
£000 2020 2019    

Undrawn loan commitments 172,534 195,014 
Guarantees 69,133 38,354 
Other 11,577 7,112 
Total 253,244 240,480 
   

(b) Operating lease commitments 

Where the bank is the lessee, the future aggregate minimum lease payments on buildings are as follows:  
31 December 31 December 

£000 2020 2019 
Less than one year 579 358 
Between one and five years - - 
More than five years - - 
Total 579 358 

 (c) Legal claims and regulatory investigations 

In the ordinary course of business the bank is subject to complaints and threatened or actual legal proceedings 
(including class or group action claims) brought by or on behalf of current or former employees, customers, 
investors or other third parties, as well as legal and regulatory reviews, challenges, investigations and 
enforcement actions, both in the UK and overseas. All such material matters are periodically reassessed, with 
the assistance of external professional advisers where appropriate, to determine the likelihood of the bank 
incurring a liability. In those instances where it is concluded that it is more likely than not that a payment will be 
made, a provision is established to management's best estimate of the amount required at the relevant balance 
sheet date. There is a potential claim resulting from indemnity provided in respect of the Bank of China (Suisse) 
SA sale agreement, which potentially could have outcome material impact to the bank. In accordance with IAS 
37.92 the bank does not provide further information on this claim, in order not to seriously prejudice the outcome 
of the claim.  

In some cases it will not be possible to form a view, for example because the facts are unclear or because further 
time is needed properly to assess the merits of the case, and no provisions are held in relation to such matters. 
In these circumstances, specific disclosure in relation to a contingent liability will be made where material. There 
is an ongoing review of a number of historical payments for possible non-compliance with foreign payment 
regulations. The outcome of the review is uncertain and not quantifiable at the date of the approving of the 
financial statements. 
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34. Subsequent events 

There are no material events subsequent to 31 December 2020 and up until the authorisation of these financial 
statements that have not been disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements. 

Dividend for 2020 of £67,000,000 was declared by the directors after 31 December 2020.  

 

35. Company as Lessor 

The bank has entered into sub-leasing arrangements on certain of its leased office properties. These leases 
have terms of between seven and nineteen years with provision for upward revision of rental charges. Rental 
income recognised by the bank during the year is £341,000 (2019: £340,000). 

Future minimum rentals receivable under operating leases as at 31 December are: 

£000     2020 2019 
Within one year    270 341 
After one year but not more than five years 984 1,008 
More than five years   1,476 1,722 
Total     2,730 3,071 

 

The bank has not provided any rent concessions to lessees. 

 

 


